



## Assessment of Coronary Artery Disease by Cardiac Computed Tomography: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association Committee on Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, and Committee on Cardiac Imaging, Council on Clinical Cardiology

Matthew J. Budoff, Stephan Achenbach, Roger S. Blumenthal, J. Jeffrey Carr, Jonathan G. Goldin, Philip Greenland, Alan D. Guerci, Joao A.C. Lima, Daniel J. Rader, Geoffrey D. Rubin, Leslee J. Shaw and Susan E. Wiegers

Circulation. 2006;114:1761-1791; originally published online October 2, 2006; doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.178458 Circulation is published by the American Heart Association, 7272 Greenville Avenue, Dallas, TX 75231 Copyright © 2006 American Heart Association, Inc. All rights reserved. Print ISSN: 0009-7322. Online ISSN: 1524-4539

The online version of this article, along with updated information and services, is located on the World Wide Web at:

http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/114/16/1761

**Permissions:** Requests for permissions to reproduce figures, tables, or portions of articles originally published in *Circulation* can be obtained via RightsLink, a service of the Copyright Clearance Center, not the Editorial Office. Once the online version of the published article for which permission is being requested is located, click Request Permissions in the middle column of the Web page under Services. Further information about this process is available in the Permissions and Rights Question and Answer document.

**Reprints:** Information about reprints can be found online at: http://www.lww.com/reprints

**Subscriptions:** Information about subscribing to *Circulation* is online at: http://circ.ahajournals.org//subscriptions/

## **AHA Scientific Statement**

## Assessment of Coronary Artery Disease by Cardiac Computed Tomography

## A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association Committee on Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, and Committee on Cardiac Imaging, Council on Clinical Cardiology

Matthew J. Budoff, MD, FAHA; Stephan Achenbach, MD; Roger S. Blumenthal, MD, FAHA;J. Jeffrey Carr, MD, MSCE; Jonathan G. Goldin, MD, PhD; Philip Greenland, MD, FAHA;Alan D. Guerci, MD; Joao A.C. Lima, MD, FAHA; Daniel J. Rader, MD, FAHA;Geoffrey D. Rubin, MD; Leslee J. Shaw, PhD; Susan E. Wiegers, MD

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive Summary								
Introduction								
1. Coronary Artery Calcification and Epidemiology of								
Coronary Calcium								
1.1. Calcium Detection Methods								
1.1.1. EBCT Methods								
1.1.2. MDCT Methods								
1.2. Coronary Artery Calcified Plaque								
1.3. Speed/Temporal Resolution								
1.4. Studies Comparing EBCT and MDCT for								
Calcium Scoring								
1.5. Reproducibility and Validity of Calcium Scoring1767								
1.6. Radiation Dose for Cardiac CT								
1.6.1. Radiation Exposure During CT								
Angiography1769								
2. Clinical Utility of CACP Detection								
2.1. CT Coronary Calcium and Symptomatic Patients1771								
2.2. CT Coronary Calcification and Clinical Outcomes								
in Asymptomatic Individuals								
2.3. Limitations								
2.4. Recommendations of Professional Societies 1775								
2.5. Utilizing Coronary Calcium Measure to Improve								
Outcomes								
2.6. Limitations of the Use of Coronary Calcium for Detecting								
Obstructive Disease in Asymptomatic Persons1777								

3.	Futu	re Directions							
	3.1.	Tracking Progression of Subclinical Atherosclerosis.1777							
	3.2.	Hybrid Nuclear/CT Imaging							
	3.3.	Contrast-Enhanced CT of the Coronary							
		Arteries							
		3.3.1. Electron Beam CT1779							
		3.3.2. Multidetector CT1780							
	3.4.	CT Angiography Applications in a							
		Clinical Context							
		3.4.1. Suspected CAD							
		3.4.2. Follow-Up of Percutaneous Coronary							
		Intervention							
		3.4.3. Follow-Up After Bypass Surgery1782							
		3.4.4. Anomalous Coronary Arteries							
	3.5.	Assessment of NCP1782							
Co	onclus	sion							
Di	sclos	ures							
Re	feren	ces							

## **Executive Summary**

This scientific statement reviews the scientific data for cardiac computed tomography (CT) related to imaging of coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis. Cardiac CT is a CT imaging technique that accounts for cardiac motion, typically through the use of ECG gating. The utility

(Circulation. 2006;114:1761-1791.)

© 2006 American Heart Association, Inc.

Circulation is available at http://www.circulationaha.org

DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.178458

The American Heart Association makes every effort to avoid any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of an outside relationship or a personal, professional, or business interest of a member of the writing panel. Specifically, all members of the writing group are required to complete and submit a Disclosure Questionnaire showing all such relationships that might be perceived as real or potential conflicts of interest.

This statement was approved by the American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee on July 1, 2006. A single reprint is available by calling 800-242-8721 (US only) or writing the American Heart Association, Public Information, 7272 Greenville Ave, Dallas, TX 75231-4596. Ask for reprint No. 71-0373. To purchase additional reprints: Up to 999 copies, call 800-611-6083 (US only) or fax 413-665-2671; 1000 or more copies, call 410-528-4121, fax 410-528-4264, or e-mail kelle.ramsay@wolterskluwer.com.

Expert peer review of AHA Scientific Statements is conducted at the AHA National Center. For more on AHA statements and guidelines development, visit http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=3023366.

Permissions: Multiple copies, modification, alteration, enhancement, and/or distribution of this document are not permitted without the express permission of the American Heart Association. Instructions for obtaining permission are located at http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml? Identifier=4431. A link to the "Permission Request Form" appears on the right side of the page.

and limitations of generations of cardiac CT systems are reviewed in this statement with emphasis on CT measurement of CAD and coronary artery calcified plaque (CACP) and noncalcified plaque. Successive generations of CT technology have been applied to cardiac imaging beginning in the early 1980s with conventional CT, electron beam CT (EBCT) in 1987, and multidetector CT (MDCT) in 1999. Compared with other imaging modalities, cardiac CT has undergone an accelerated progression in imaging capabilities over the past decade, and this is expected to continue for the foreseeable future. As a result, the diagnostic capabilities at times have preceded the critical evaluation of clinical application. In this statement, the American Heart Association (AHA) Writing Group evaluates the available data for the application of cardiac CT for CAD.

Cardiac CT uses natural contrast within subjects (utilizing the different brightness of fat, tissue, contrast, and air). Noncontrast CT is a low-radiation exposure technique and, even without premedication or intravenous contrast, can determine the presence or absence of CACP in <10 minutes. The amount of CACP can be measured to provide a reasonable estimate of total coronary atheroma including calcified and noncalcified plaque. The data supporting detection of CACP as a measure of CAD are extensive. Imaging applications that detect CACP include conventional chest radiographs, cinefluoroscopy, conventional and helical CT, EBCT, and MDCT.

The majority of published studies have reported that the total amount of coronary calcium (usually expressed as the "Agatston score") predicts coronary disease events beyond standard risk factors. Although some registries used selfreported risk factor data, data from EBCT reports using measured risk factors demonstrate incremental risk stratification beyond the Framingham Risk Score (FRS). These studies demonstrate that CACP is both independent of and incremental with respect to traditional risk factors in the prediction of cardiac events. Data from Greenland et al1 demonstrated that intermediate-risk patients with an elevated coronary artery calcium (CAC) score (intermediate FRS and CAC score >300) had an annual hard event rate of 2.8%, or a 10-year rate of 28%, and thus would be considered high risk. The best estimates of the relative risk (RR) from this study indicated that a CAC score >300 had a hazard ratio (HR) of about 4 compared with a score of 0. This would mean that the estimated risk in the intermediaterisk patient with a CAC score of 0 might be reduced by at least 2-fold while the risk of a person with a CAC score of 300+ would be increased by about 2-fold. Thus, the person with a high CAC score and intermediate FRS is now reclassified as high risk. CT information may then be used to guide primary prevention strategies, especially among individuals within the intermediate-risk category, in whom, as suggested by the AHA Prevention Conference V,2 clinical decision-making is most uncertain. Individuals determined to be at intermediate risk of a cardiovascular disease (CVD) event on the basis of traditional risk factors may benefit from further characterization of their risk through measurement of their atherosclerotic burden with cardiac CT. This AHA Writing Group agrees with the statement from the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATP III): "In persons with multiple risk

factors, high coronary calcium scores (eg, >75th percentile for age and sex) denote advanced coronary atherosclerosis and provide a rationale for intensified LDL-lowering therapy."3 Guidelines and expert consensus documents<sup>4</sup> have extended the recommendation for use of coronary calcium measurements in clinically selected patients at intermediate risk for CAD (eg, those with a 10% to 20% 10-year FRS) to refining clinical risk predictions and to assessing whether more aggressive target values for lipid-lowering therapies are indicated for select patients.5 Asymptomatic persons should be assessed for their cardiovascular risk with such tools as the FRS. Individuals found to be at low risk (<10% 10-year risk) or at high risk (>20% 10-year risk) do not benefit from coronary calcium assessment (Class III, Level of Evidence: B). In clinically selected, intermediate-risk patients, it may be reasonable to measure the atherosclerosis burden using EBCT or MDCT to refine clinical risk prediction and to select patients for more aggressive target values for lipid-lowering therapies (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B).

When cardiac CT is used for CACP assessment, the AHA Writing Group strongly recommends a low-dose technique using prospective ECG gating. Although alternative techniques may provide improved resolution or increased precision in measurement, data to support an enhanced predictive ability given the higher radiation exposure are limited. A minimum CT-system configuration of EBCT C150 or more up to date or MDCT 4 channel with 0.5-second gantry rotation or faster is recommended. Although virtually all of the prognostic and epidemiological data derived for CACP have been performed with EBCT, several large prospective trials have documented that cardiac CT (both MDCT and EBCT) measurements can be similarly applied across multiple centers with equally high levels of patient satisfaction and acceptance.

The utility of CACP in symptomatic patients has been widely studied and has been discussed in depth in a previous ACC/AHA statement,<sup>4</sup> as well as in the AHA Cardiac Imaging Committee scientific statement "The Role of Cardiac Imaging in the Clinical Evaluation of Women With Known or Suspected Coronary Artery Disease."<sup>5</sup> The test has been shown to have a predictive accuracy equivalent to alternative methods for diagnosing CAD. These studies may have been subject to referral bias, as a positive test may have been the rationale for subjecting the patient to the invasive angiogram. More comparison work between modalities is clearly needed. A positive cardiac CT examination in which any CACP is identified is nearly 100% specific for atheromatous coronary plaque. CACP can develop early in the course of subclinical atherosclerosis and can be identified histologically after fatty streak formation. CACP is present in the intima of both obstructive and nonobstructive lesions, and thus, the presence of calcified plaque on cardiac CT is not specific to an obstructive lesion. Studies using intracoronary ultrasound have documented a strong association between patterns of CACP and culprit lesions in the setting of acute coronary syndromes.

Cardiac CT studies correlating calcified plaque using EBCT technology and various methods of coronary angiog-raphy in more than 7600 symptomatic patients demonstrate negative predictive values of 96% to 100%, providing phy-

sicians with a high level of confidence that an individual without CACP (total calcium score=0) does not have obstructive angiographic CAD. The presence of CACP is extremely sensitive, albeit with reduced specificity, for diagnosing obstructive CAD (95% to 99%) in patients >40 years of age. A recent study of 1195 patients who underwent CACP measurement with EBCT and myocardial perfusion single photon emission CT (SPECT) assessment demonstrated that CACP was often present in the absence of myocardial perfusion scintigraphy (MPS) abnormalities (normal nuclear test) and that <2% of all patients with CACP <100 had positive MPS studies.<sup>6</sup> This is supported by other published reports and is synthesized in a recent appropriateness criteria statement from the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology and the American College of Cardiology.7,8 CACP measured by cardiac CT has a high sensitivity and negative predictive power for obstructive CAD but markedly limited specificity. Because calcified plaque may be present in nonobstructive lesions, the presence of CACP in asymptomatic persons does not provide a rationale for revascularization but rather for risk factor modification and possible further functional assessment. Clinicians must understand that a positive calcium scan indicates atherosclerosis but most often no significant stenosis. With exceptions, high-risk calcium scores (such as an Agatston score  $\geq$ 400) are associated with an increased frequency of perfusion ischemia and obstructive CAD. The absence of coronary calcium is most often associated with a normal nuclear test and no obstructive disease on angiography. Coronary calcium assessment may be reasonable for the assessment of symptomatic patients, especially in the setting of equivocal treadmill or functional testing (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B). There are other situations when CAC assessment might be reasonable. CACP measurement may be considered in the symptomatic patient to determine the cause of cardiomyopathy (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B). Also, patients with chest pain with equivocal or normal ECGs and negative cardiac enzyme studies may be considered for CAC assessment (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B).

Coronary calcium assessment for diagnosis of atherosclerosis and obstructive disease and for risk stratification for future cardiac events has undergone significant validation over the past 20 years. CT angiography is a noninvasive technique, performed by either EBCT or MDCT, to evaluate the lumen and wall of the coronary artery. Especially in the context of ruling out stenosis in patients with low to intermediate pretest likelihood of disease, CT coronary angiography may develop into a clinically useful tool. CT coronary angiography is reasonable for the assessment of obstructive disease in symptomatic patients (Class IIa, Level of Evidence: B). Several small studies have assessed the value of EBCT and MDCT for detecting restenosis after stent placement. At this time, however, imaging of patients to follow up stent placement cannot be recommended (Class III, Level of Evidence: C).

Where MDCT is used for CT angiography, the AHA Writing Group currently recommends a minimum of 16-slice capability, submillimeter collimation, and 0.42-second gantry rotation with retrospective ECG gating. If EBCT is used, 1.5-mm slice thickness should be used. A limitation of EBCT relative to MDCT is its lower power, with EBCT limited to 63 or 100 milliamperes/second (mAs), depending on scanner generation, which becomes important in larger patients because image quality can be affected by noise. Another advantage of MDCT is thinner slice imaging, with section thickness as small as 0.5 mm, whereas EBCT is limited to 1.5 mm. An advantage of EBCT, however, is the lower radiation dose associated with this procedure (1.1 to 1.5 mSv), compared with MDCT angiography (5 to 13 mSv).<sup>9,10</sup> The use of both CT modalities to evaluate noncalcified plaque (NCP) is promising but premature. There are limited data on variability but none on the prognostic implications of CT angiography for NCP assessment or on the utility of these measures to track atherosclerosis or stenosis over time; therefore, their use for these purposes is not recommended (**Class III, Level of Evidence: C**).

CT technology is evolving rapidly, and these radiation dose estimates are likely to decrease with modification of the hardware and scanning protocols. The clinical relevance of the radiation dose that is administered with cardiac CT is unknown. However, higher radiation doses in general are associated with a small but defined increase in cancer risk later in life. The AHA Writing Group reviewing the available literature endorses the use of a prospective ECG trigger for measurement of CACP with a slice collimation of 2.5 to 3 mm for clinical practice. EBCT systems have an effective dose of 0.7 to 1 mSv (male) and 0.9 to 1.3 mSv (female), and MDCT systems have an effective dose of 1 to 1.5 mSv (male) and 1.1 to 1.9 mSv (female). Higher radiation exposures with retrospective gating for CACP assessment preclude its use for screening. Similarly, for CT angiography, the higher radiation doses (up to 1.5 mSv for EBCT and up to 13 mSv for MDCT) prohibit the use of this test as a screening tool for asymptomatic patients. CT coronary angiography is not recommended in asymptomatic persons for the assessment of occult CAD (Class III, Level of Evidence: **C**).

The role of cardiac CT in measuring clinically or prognostically meaningful changes in calcified plaque over time and its correlation with other measures of coronary heart disease (CHD) is currently an area of intense investigation. Reductions in the test-to-test variability and improvements in the interreader reliability of the calcium score may allow for serial assessment of coronary calcium scores; however, more studies are required. It is difficult to justify the incremental population exposure to radiation and the cost associated with a repeat CT test to assess "change," until it is better understood what therapies may be of benefit and how clinicians should utilize this data in clinical practice. There is conflicting evidence as to whether vigorous cholesterollowering therapy with statins retards the rate of progression of CACP. The AHA Writing Group concluded that this potential use of cardiac CT will require additional validation before any recommendation. Serial imaging for assessment of progression of coronary calcification is not indicated at this time (Class III, Level of Evidence: C).

Cardiac CT technology is rapidly evolving. On the basis of the substantial validation data, EBCT remains the reference standard for CACP measurement.<sup>11</sup> MDCT-64 is the current standard for coronary CT angiography and NCP characterization based on publications to date.<sup>12</sup> The trend for improved image quality with cardiac CT is consistent. It is critical that the cardiac imaging scientific community continue to integrate evolving technological advances with best clinical practices for treatment and prevention of CVD.<sup>7,13</sup>

An area of ongoing clinical research is the application of hybrid positron emission tomography CT (PET-CT) and SPECT-CT scanners that are currently available. This research will allow for the acquisition of metabolic and/or perfusion information as well as anatomic data, including angiographic data and data on coronary calcification. The incremental benefit of hybrid imaging strategies will need to be demonstrated before clinical implementation, as radiation exposure may be significant with dual nuclear/CT imaging. At this time, there are no data supporting the use of hybrid scanning to assess cardiovascular risk or presence of obstructive disease (Class III, Level of Evidence: C).

In summary, cardiac CT has been demonstrated to provide quantitative measures of CACP and NCP. CACP, as determined by cardiac CT, documents the presence of coronary atherosclerosis, identifies individuals at elevated risk for myocardial infarction (MI) and CVD death, and adds significant predictive ability to the Framingham Score (an index of traditional CVD risk factors). Data suggest that cardiac CT may improve risk prediction, especially in individuals determined to be at intermediate risk according to the NCEP ATP III criteria and for whom decisions concerning prevention strategies may be altered based on the test results. The use of cardiac CT angiography for noninvasive assessment of lumen stenosis in symptomatic individuals has the potential to significantly alter the management of CAD and current diagnostic testing patterns. The assessment of progression of CACP and the detection of nonobstructive NCP by cardiac CT angiography warrant further investigation.

## Introduction

The AHA has issued 2 prior statements on CAC scanning; one in 199614 and a second (in conjunction with the American College of Cardiology [ACC]) in 2000 specifically related to EBCT.<sup>4</sup> The AHA also sponsored the Prevention V Conference, which focused on the identification of the asymptomatic high-risk patient and discussed the potential role of CAC scanning.<sup>2</sup> In light of a rapidly evolving literature since the last ACC/AHA expert consensus statement (2000), the current statement will focus on new data available on using EBCT and MDCT to identify patients with coronary atherosclerosis defined by quantification of coronary artery calcification. EBCT is an especially fast form of x-ray imaging technology that can detect and measure calcium deposits in the coronary arteries.5 The amount of calcium detected by EBCT is related to the amount of underlying coronary atherosclerosis. During the past decade, there has been a progressive increase in the clinical use of both EBCT and MDCT scanners to identify and quantify the amount of calcified plaque in the coronary arteries. This approach has generated much interest and scrutiny for several reasons. Although coronary calcification can be quantified and calcium scores can be related to the extent and severity of atherosclerotic disease and improving CHD risk prediction, misuse or abuse of these methods as a broad-based "screening" tool has created considerable controversy.

Recently, CT scanners with subsecond image acquisition and MDCT (also referred to as multirow or multislice) capability have been studied and proposed as an alternative approach to EBCT for detecting coronary calcification owing to the greater availability of such CT scanners. This scientific statement will compare MDCT and EBCT and serve as a clinical update for the use of CACP in clinical decisionmaking regarding evaluations for CHD in the asymptomatic individual. Current evidence regarding noninvasive angiography using CT, as well as the future role of these techniques in monitoring atherosclerosis over time and in detecting NCP, will be reviewed.

## 1. Coronary Artery Calcification and Epidemiology of Coronary Calcium

Arterial calcium development is intimately associated with vascular injury and atherosclerotic plaque. CACP is an active process and can be seen at all stages of atherosclerotic plaque development.<sup>15–17</sup> The long-held notion of so-called "degenerative" calcification of the coronary arteries with aging is incorrect. Since Faber<sup>18</sup> noted in 1912 that Mönckeberg's calcific medial sclerosis did not occur in the coronary arteries, atherosclerosis is the only vascular disease known to be associated with coronary calcification.<sup>4,11,14,19,20</sup> Thus, CACP in the absence of luminal stenosis is not a "false-positive" result but rather evidence of coronary atherosclerosis.<sup>20</sup>

Coronary calcification is nearly ubiquitous in patients with documented CAD<sup>21–23</sup> and is strongly related to age, increasing dramatically after age 50 in men and after age 60 in women (Tables 1 and 2).<sup>24,25</sup> However, coronary plaque and its associated coronary calcification may have only a weak correlation with the extent of histopathologic stenosis.<sup>26,27</sup> The degree of encroachment on the vessel lumen by the atherosclerotic plaque is largely determined by individual variations in coronary artery remodeling. However, the presence of CACP is associated with atherosclerotic plaque size.<sup>26</sup>

Rumberger and colleagues<sup>28,29</sup> examined 13 autopsied hearts and compared measures of CACP using EBCT as compared with direct histological plaque areas and percent luminal stenosis. These studies determined that the total area of CACP quantified by EBCT is linearly and highly correlated (r=0.90) with the total area of histological coronary artery plaque. Although the total atherosclerotic plaque burden was tracked by the total calcium burden, not all plaques were found to be calcified, and the total calcium area was approximately 20% of the total atherosclerotic plaque area. Baumgart et al<sup>30</sup> and Schmermund et al<sup>31</sup> compared direct intracoronary ultrasound measures during angiography with EBCT scanning and confirmed a direct association, in vivo, of CACP score with localization and extent of atherosclerotic plaques.

The prevalence of CACP mirrors the prevalence of coronary atherosclerosis in both men and women.<sup>32</sup> The data show the following: (1) the prevalence of CACP increases from only a small percentage in the second decade of life to nearly 100% by the eighth decade in men and women; (2) the prevalence of CACP in women is similar to that in men who

		Ν	len		Women				
		Т	otal CAC So	core		Тс	otal CAC S	core	
Age, y	n	Mean	SD	Median	n	Mean	SD	Median	
<40	3504	12	70	0.5	641	2	14	0	
40–44	4238	27	120	1	1024	8	97	0	
45–49	4940	57	175	3	1634	18	186	0	
50–54	4825	121	305	16	2184	29	135	0.5	
55–59	3472	203	411	49	1835	54	189	1	
60–64	2288	350	972	113	1334	78	250	3	
65–69	1209	464	731	180	731	147	338	24	
70–74	540	665	921	309	436	225	515	55	
>74	235	836	1053	473	174	258	507	75	

 TABLE 1.
 Descriptive Characteristics of the Total Electron Beam Tomographic

 CAC Scores in Asymptomatic Men and Women

Adapted from data presented in Hoff et al.24

are a decade younger; (3) the gender difference in prevalence with age is eliminated by approximately age 65 to 70, when the prevalence of coronary calcium in women is similar to that in men of the same age. The prevalence of CACP increases with age, paralleling the increased prevalence of coronary atherosclerosis with advancing age.

## **1.1. Calcium Detection Methods**

This section will discuss methods related to CACP identification.

## 1.1.1. EBCT Methods

EBCT is a tomographic imaging device developed nearly 20 years ago specifically for cardiac imaging. Although the technique can quantify ventricular anatomy and function<sup>33</sup> as well as myocardial perfusion,<sup>34</sup> it is currently best known for defining and measuring CACP. Over the past decade, there have been more than 1000 articles published regarding EBCT and coronary artery imaging.

EBCT (also referred to as "EBT" and "Ultrafast-CT," General Electric, South San Francisco, Calif) uses unique technology enabling ultrafast scan acquisition times currently of 50 ms, 100 ms, and multiples of 100 ms (up to 1.5 seconds) per slice (Table 3). There have been 3 iterations of EBCT systems since their clinical introduction in the early 1980s. The core imaging methods have remained unchanged, but there have been improvements in image acquisition; in data storage, manipulation, management, and display; and in spatial resolution. The original C-100 scanner was replaced in 1993 by the C-150, which was replaced by the C-300 in 2000. The current EBCT scanner, the "e-speed" (GE/Imatron, South San Francisco, Calif) was introduced in 2003. The e-speed is a multislice scanner and currently can perform a heart or body scan in half the total examination time required by the C-150 and C-300 scanners. In addition to the standard 50-ms and 100-ms scan modes common to all EBCT scanners, the e-speed is capable of high-resolution imaging speeds as fast as 50 ms. This very short acquisition time leads to fewer motion artifacts and improved contrast-to-noise ratios.35

EBCT uses a stationary multisource/split-detector combination coupled to a rotating electron beam and produces serial, contiguous, thin-section tomographic scans in syn-

TABLE 2. Electron Beam Tomographic CAC Score Percentiles for Men and Women Within Each Age Stratum

					Age, y				
	<40	40-44	45-49	50-54	55–59	60-64	65-69	70-74	>74
Men (25 251)	3504	4238	4940	4825	3472	2288	1209	540	235
25th Percentile	0	0	0	1	4	13	32	64	166
50th Percentile	1	1	3	15	48	113	180	310	473
75th Percentile	3	9	36	103	215	410	566	892	1071
90th Percentile	14	59	154	332	554	994	1299	1774	1982
Women (9995)	641	1024	1634	2184	1835	1334	731	438	174
25th Percentile	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	9
50th Percentile	0	0	0	0	1	3	24	62	75
75th Percentile	1	1	2	5	23	57	145	210	241
90th Percentile	3	4	22	65	121	193	410	631	709

Adapted from data presented in Hoff et al.24

	EBCT	MDCT
Electron source (cathode)	Electron gun	Tungsten filament
Gantry	Fixed: Electron beam rapidly sweeps across tungsten rings	Rotates: Tube and opposing detectors rotate within gantry
Image reconstruction	Partial scan/filtered back-projection Sharp kernel	Partial scan/filtered back-projection Standard kernel
Beam current, mA	Fixed	User selectable
Exposure time for coronary calcium	50 or 100 ms (true prospective)	${\geq}220~\text{ms}$ Dependent on gantry rotation speed and postprocessing
Gating for CT angiography	Prospective trigger	Retrospective gating
Exposure, mAs	Fixed mA $\times$ exposure time	User-selectable mA $\times$ exposure time
Heart rate limitations*	<110 bpm	<65 bpm
Best z-axis resolution	1.5 mm	0.5 mm

TABLE 3.	Basic Descri	ption of CT	System	Components

\*Heart rate limitations based on the prevalence of studies with significant coronary motion.

chrony with the heart cycle. EBCT is distinguished by its use of a scanning electron beam rather than the traditional x-ray tube and mechanical rotation device used in current "spiral," single, and multiple-detector scanners. The electron beam is steered by an electromagnetic deflection system that sweeps it across the distant anode, a series of 4 fixed tungsten "target" rings. A stationary, single-level or dual-level arc of detectors lies in apposition to the tungsten target rings. In contrast, MDCT physically moves the x-ray tube in a circle about the patient; with EBCT, only the electron beam is moved.

Standardized methods for imaging, identification, and quantification of CAC using EBCT have been established.<sup>4,36</sup> The scanner is operated in the high-resolution, single-slice mode with continuous, nonoverlapping slices of 3-mm thickness and an acquisition time of 100 ms/tomogram.<sup>37</sup> Electrocardiographic triggering is done during end-systole or early diastole at a time determined from the continuous ECG tracing done during scanning.

Historically, the most common trigger time used is 80% of the R-R interval. However, this trigger occurs on or near the P wave during atrial systole, and the least cardiac motion among all heart rates occurs at 40% to 60% of the R-R interval.<sup>38</sup> Therefore, it has been demonstrated that the protocol of triggering at 80% of the R-R interval is not optimal for imaging of the coronary segments near the right or left atrium. Mao et al<sup>39</sup> compared 40% and 80% trigger delay (imaging during early compared with late diastole) and obtained an interscan variability of 11.5% versus 17.4%, respectively. For a more complete discussion on gating, see section 1.5.

## 1.1.2. MDCT Methods

The current generation of MDCT systems is capable of acquiring 4 to 64 sections of the heart simultaneously with ECG gating in either a prospective or retrospective mode. MDCT differs from single detector–row helical or spiral CT systems principally by the design of the detector arrays and data acquisition systems, which allows the detector arrays to be configured electronically to acquire multiple adjacent sections simultaneously (Table 3). In the current 16-row MDCT systems, 16 sections can be acquired at either 0.5- to

0.75-mm or 1- to-1.5-mm section widths, or 8 sections 2.5-mm thick.

In MDCT systems, like the preceding generation of single detector-row helical scanners, the x-ray photons are generated within a specialized x-ray tube mounted on a rotating gantry. The patient is centered within the bore of the gantry such that the array of detectors is positioned to record incident photons after they have traversed the patient. Within the x-ray tube, a tungsten filament allows the tube current to be increased (mA), which proportionately increases the number of x-ray photons for producing an image. This is a design difference with current generation EBCT systems, which use a fixed tube current.

MDCT systems have 2 principal modes of scanning, which depend on whether the patient on the CT couch is advanced in a step-wise fashion (axial, sequential, or conventional mode) or continuously moved at a fixed speed relative to the gantry rotation (helical or spiral mode). The axial mode is analogous to EBCT in using prospective ECG triggering at predetermined offset from the ECG-detected R wave and is the current mode for measuring coronary calcium at most centers using MDCT.

When prospective gating is performed, the temporal resolution of a helical or MDCT system is proportional to the gantry speed, which determines the time to complete one  $360^{\circ}$  rotation. To reconstruct each slice, data from a minimum of  $180^{\circ}$  plus the angle of the fan beam are required, typically approximately  $220^{\circ}$  of the total  $360^{\circ}$  rotation. Unless data from several consecutive heartbeats are combined, the temporal resolution is 257 ms for a 50-cm display FOV (field of view) when using a 16-row system with 0.42-second rotation. The newest 64-slice scanners now have rotation gantry speeds up to 330 ms.

## **1.2.** Coronary Artery Calcified Plaque

Calcified plaque or calcified atheroma are the terms used in the AHA consensus paper on the definition of the advanced lesions of atherosclerosis (ie, AHA IVb lesion)—calcified plaque is a subcomponent of atheroma, not a surrogate measure.<sup>40</sup> CACP, as measured on cardiac CT, is defined as a hyperattenuating lesion above a threshold of 130 "Hounsfield Units" (HU) with an area  $\geq 3$  adjacent pixels (at least 1 mm<sup>2</sup>).

There are currently 2 CT calcium scoring systems widely used: the original Agatston method and the "volume" score method. The Agatston score method involves multiplication of the calcium area by a number related to CT density and, in the presence of partial volume artifacts, can be variable. Also, the Agatston system was designed and is properly used only when the slice thickness of the scan is 3 mm. A calcium score is reported for a given coronary artery and for the entire coronary system; however, most research studies have reported data related to the summed or total "score" for the entire epicardial coronary system.

The Agatston scoring<sup>37</sup> scale is rule based: Calculate an area for all pixels above a threshold of 130 HU, do so every 3 mm (the slice thickness and spacing used by Agatston et al), and multiply it by a density factor. Partial volume effects lead to higher peak values for small lesions (but not for large ones). If the change in peak value happens to be such that it changes the density factor, then it can, theoretically, change the score by a factor of 4. The volume method of Callister et al<sup>41</sup> somewhat resolves the issue of slice thickness and spacing by computing a volume above threshold. The volume score is much less dependent on minor changes in slice thickness.

Current EBCT systems are now able to perform scanning at 1.5 mm, and the latest MDCT systems can provide slice thicknesses that are <1 mm. Use of thinner slices leads to higher radiation doses. In the future, a more universal scoring system may be possible that would be machine independent but, at present, data derived from MDCT should be compared with caution with those derived from EBCT. While the portability of the volume method is affected by the same issues that affect the Agatston method (slice thickness, calcium content), most studies demonstrate improved interscan reproducibility using volumetric scores for both MDCT and EBCT.

The calcium mass score has recently been reported. Basically, the mass score consists of integration of the signal for pixels above a given threshold. For a well-calibrated CT scanner, in the absence of noise, this integration (scaled by pixel volume) will give the total mineral content independent of slice thickness and spatial resolution. Although theoretically better for portability between scanners, this score has not yet undergone sufficient validation (autopsy, histology, outcomes, progression, or angiographic comparison), so its use clinically is premature.<sup>42,43</sup>

The retention of the Agatston score has been predicated on the availability of databases for these scores, which include the availability of outcome data so clinicians understand the significance of a certain score. Volume scores are similar, while mass scores tend to be much lower values for a given patient. Adoption of newer scoring methods will depend on the availability of similar risk stratification and outcome data. Data published by Rumberger et al<sup>44</sup> showed that the Agatston, volume, and mass scores, when applied properly, can provide similar characterization.

### **1.3. Speed/Temporal Resolution**

Cardiac CT is dependent on having a high temporal resolution to minimize coronary motion–related imaging artifacts. Coupling rapid image acquisition with ECG gating makes it possible to acquire images in specific phases of the cardiac cycle. Studies have indicated that temporal resolutions of 19 ms would be needed to suppress all pulmonary and cardiac motion throughout the complete cardiac cycle.<sup>45</sup> Currentgeneration cardiac CT systems can create individual images at 50 to 100 ms (EBCT) and 83 to 210 ms (MDCT), a level of resolution that cannot totally eliminate coronary artery motion in all individuals.

Motion artifacts are especially prominent in the mid right coronary artery, where the ballistic movement of the vessel may be as much as 5 to 6 times its diameter during the twisting and torsion of the heart during the cardiac cycle. Blurring of cardiac structures secondary to coronary motion increases in systems with slower acquisition speeds. It should be noted that utilizing more detectors (ie, 4 versus 8 versus 16 versus 64 detector/channel systems) does not improve the temporal resolution of the images (the rotation speed of the scanners does not change) but reduces scan time (ie, breathhold time) and section misregistration. Generally, the higher x-ray flux (mAs = tube current  $\times$  scan time) and greater number and efficiency of x-ray detectors available with MDCT devices leads to images with better signal-to-noise ratio and higher spatial resolution when compared with current EBCT scanners.

## **1.4. Studies Comparing EBCT and MDCT for Calcium Scoring**

Several studies comparing these modalities have been published. Becker et al<sup>46</sup> studied 100 patients comparing MDCT with EBCT and reported a variability of 32% between the 2 modalities. Knez et al<sup>47</sup> studied the diagnostic accuracy of MDCT compared with EBCT in 99 symptomatic male patients ( $60\pm10$  years). The mean variability between the MDCT- and EBCT-derived scores was 17%. The findings of extensive calcification and a good correlation over a large range of values do not fully address the need to measure CACP scores accurately and reproducibly in a given individual. These high correlations may not apply as well to a younger, "asymptomatic" population with generally much lower scores.<sup>48</sup>

Carr et al<sup>49</sup> found agreement could be further improved by calibration of the Agatston score to an external standard. It should be emphasized that the clinical value for CAC determination is to facilitate individual risk assessment, and thus scoring for a given individual should be as accurate as possible. In epidemiologic studies of CACP in broad population groups, measures by MDCT and EBCT may well provide important insight into the atherosclerotic process, a hypothesis currently under investigation in large, populationbased studies (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis [MESA]<sup>50</sup> and the Heinz Nixdorf RECALL study<sup>51</sup>).

## 1.5. Reproducibility and Validity of Calcium Scoring

A potential of these technologies is to estimate atherosclerosis burden and to track changes over time in order to assess efficacy of therapy.<sup>52</sup> This ability to assess progression is dependent on the reproducibility of the technologies. With EBCT, the mean interscan variability, with improved methodology (early diastolic or end-systolic triggering) and hardware improvements available since 1997, has been shown to be approximately 15%, with interreader variability approximately 3% and intrareader variability <1%.<sup>39,53–58</sup> Achenbach demonstrated the median variability to be 5.7% using EBCT.<sup>59</sup>

The interscan variability in several early studies using noncardiac gated MDCT (dual slice) scanners was 32% to 43%.<sup>60,61</sup> The literature clearly supports the use of cardiac gating to improve the measurement of CACP. A study of 75 persons using 4-slice MDCT demonstrated a mean variability of 25% for overlapping images with volume scoring, as compared with 46% for Agatston scoring without overlap.<sup>62</sup> A study of 537 patients undergoing 2 studies on 4-slice MDCT with cardiac gating demonstrated a mean variability of 36% for volume scoring and 43% for Agatston scoring.<sup>63</sup> Other small studies demonstrated variabilities of 20% to 37% for Agatston scoring and 14% to 33% for volume scoring.<sup>64-66</sup>

The National Institutes of Health/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute MESA is a population-based study in which 6814 men and women 45 to 84 years of age and free of clinically apparent CVD were recruited from portions of 6 US communities. Cardiac CT (EBCT-C150 and MDCT-4) examinations for measuring CACP were performed during the baseline examination between July 2000 and August 2002 using a standardized protocol.67 Dual scans were obtained in 3551 MESA participants on an EBCT-C150 and in 3190 participants on an MDCT-4-channel system to evaluate reproducibility of the CT systems for measuring CACP. Both systems were highly concordant on the paired scan series (96% EBCT and 96% MDCT) for the presence or absence of calcified plaque.68 Chance corrected agreement for both technologies was high with an identical kappa statistic of 0.92. When the mean absolute rescan differences were compared, adjusted for body mass index and extent of CACP, no significant difference was seen between EBCT and MDCT-4 with absolute Agatston unit values (95% confidence intervals [CIs]) by scanner type for GE-Imatron C-150 (EBCT), Siemens Volume Zoom (MDCT-4), and GE Light-Speed Plus (MDCT-4) being 15.8 (15.1,16.6), 17.5 (16.5, 18.5) and 15.7 (14.5,17.1), respectively.

One important limitation of this study was the difference in methodologies used by the scanners. The triggers in this study used 80% gating for EBCT and 50% gating for MDCT.<sup>67</sup> Mao et al<sup>56</sup> demonstrated that the Agatston score variability with EBCT decreases from 24% to 15% with use of an early diastolic trigger rather than the 80% trigger employed in the MESA study (P<0.05). The measure of CACP volume in MESA had a mean relative difference of 18% with both technologies, and this 2% improvement as compared with the Agatston score was statistically significant. This improvement in reproducibility with the volume score is consistent with this measure not accounting for information related to plaque density (ie, calcium mass). The results from MESA

demonstrate good performance by both cardiac CT technologies with regard to presence, absence, and amount of CACP.

There has been some debate about using retrospective gating instead of prospective gating with MDCT to further improve reproducibility, despite the increased radiation exposure. Ohnesorge et al<sup>69</sup> studied 50 patients using retrospective gating, demonstrating mean variability of 23% (Agatston score) and 21% (volume score) when using nonoverlapping increments of 3 mm. A considerable reduction in rescan variability can be achieved by overlapping the slices obtained (Agatston 12%, volume 8%) with P<0.01. Considerably higher mean variability is present for the patient subgroup with low to mild calcification if image data with nonoverlapping increments are used (Agatston 42%, volume 34%). The radiation dose reported for this methodology was >2.6 mSv per patient, representing a 2-fold increase as compared with prospectively gated MDCT studies.

Van Hoe et al<sup>65</sup> evaluated 50 patients and reconstructed the retrospective datasets at 3 different time intervals to try to minimize interscan variability. The mean percentage interscan variability was  $30\pm31\%$  with the use of an image reconstruction window of 40%,  $33\pm37\%$  with use of an image reconstruction window of 50%, and  $27\pm22\%$  with use of the optimal image reconstruction window. The authors stated, "Although we used the same technique as that of Ohnesorge et al,<sup>69</sup> we found mean interscan variability values that were 2 to 3 times higher. No obvious explanation can be given for these striking differences."

Use of retrospective gating in an attempt to improve reproducibility with MDCT is associated with a higher radiation exposure, increased interreader variability, and markedly increased interpretation times. In 1 study of 30 patients, Agatston and volumetric scores were assessed by using 16-detector retrospectively gated MDCT.<sup>70</sup> For each patient, 10 datasets were created that were evenly spaced throughout the cardiac cycle. Nineteen (63%) of 30 patients could be assigned to >1 risk group depending on the reconstruction interval used to measure the calcium score. Agatston and volumetric scores both proved highly dependent on the reconstruction interval used (coefficient of variation  $\leq 63\%$ ), even with the most advanced CT scanners. Accurate and reproducible quantification of coronary calcium using retrospective gating seems to require analysis of multiple reconstructions.

The AHA Writing Group proposes that the following minimum requirements be met in scanning for CAC<sup>71</sup>:

- 1. Use of an electron beam scanner or a 4-level (or greater) MDCT scanner
- 2. Cardiac gating
- 3. Prospective triggering for reducing radiation exposure
- 4. A gantry rotation of at least 500 ms
- 5. Reconstructed slice thickness of 2.5 to 3 mm to minimize radiation in asymptomatic persons (and to provide consistency with established results)
- 6. Early to mid-diastolic gating

## 1.6. Radiation Dose for Cardiac CT

CT uses x-rays, a form of ionizing radiation, to produce the information required for generating CT images. Although all

individuals are exposed to ionizing radiation from natural sources on a daily basis, healthcare professionals involved in medical imaging must understand the potential risks of a test and balance them against the potential benefits. This is particularly important for diagnostic tests that will be given to healthy individuals as part of a disease-screening or riskstratification program. For healthcare professionals to effectively advise individuals, they must have an understanding of the exposure involved.

The FDA, in describing the radiation risks from CT screening,<sup>72</sup> used the following language:

In the field of radiation protection, it is commonly assumed that the risk for adverse health effects from cancer is proportional to the amount of radiation dose absorbed and the amount of dose depends on the type of x-ray examination. A CT examination with an effective dose of 10 millisieverts (abbreviated mSv; 1 mSv=1 mGy in the case of x-rays) may be associated with an increase in the possibility of fatal cancer of approximately 1 chance in 2000. This increase in the possibility of a fatal cancer from radiation can be compared with the natural incidence of fatal cancer in the US population, about 1 chance in 5. Nevertheless, this small increase in radiation-associated cancer risk for an individual can become a public health concern if large numbers of the population undergo increased numbers of CT procedures for screening purposes. It must be noted that there is uncertainty regarding the risk estimates for low levels of radiation exposure as commonly experienced in diagnostic radiology procedures. There are some authorities who question whether there is adequate evidence for a risk of cancer induction at low doses. However, this position has not been adopted by most authoritative bodies in the radiation protection and medical arenas.

Effective dose is an estimate of the dose to patients during an ionizing radiation procedure. It measures the total energy entered into the body and then takes into account the sensitivity of the organs irradiated. Although it has many limitations, it is often used to compare the dose from a CT examination or other examination using ionizing radiation to the background radiation a patient experiences in a year. Units are either millirem (mrem) or millisieverts (mSv); 100 mrem is 1 mSv. The estimated dose from chest x-ray is 0.04 to 0.10 mSv, and the average annual background radiation in the United States is 3 to 3.6 mSv.<sup>10</sup>

One drawback of MDCT as compared with EBCT is the higher radiation exposure to the patient (Table 4).<sup>10,11,73–84</sup> The x-ray photon flux expressed by the product of x-ray tube current and exposure time (mAs) is generally higher with MDCT. For example, 200 mA with 0.5-second exposure time yields 100 mAs in MDCT versus 614 mA (fixed tube current) with 0.1-second exposure time yields 61.4 mAs in EBCT.

Hunold et al<sup>10</sup> performed a study of radiation doses during cardiac examinations. Coronary calcium scanning was performed with EBCT and 4-level MDCT using prospective triggering to assess each patient's effective radiation expo-

sure, which was then compared with measurements made during cardiac catheterization. EBCT yielded effective doses of 1.0 and 1.3 mSv for men and women, whereas MDCT using 100 mA, 140 kV, and 500-ms rotation yielded 1.5 mSv for men and 1.8 mSv for women. Invasive coronary angiography yielded effective doses of 2.1 and 2.5 mSv for men and women, respectively.

When similar protocols using single-detector-row CT (SD CT) and MDCT were compared, MDCT resulted in a dose profile approximately 27% higher than that from SD CT in the plane of imaging (8.0 versus 6.3 mGy) and 69% higher adjacent to the plane of imaging (6.8 versus 4.0 mGy).<sup>74</sup> The individual doses to the kidneys, uterus, ovaries, and pelvic bone marrow were 92% to 180% higher with MDCT than with SD CT. The authors concluded, "With image noise constant between SD CT and MDCT, the radiation dose profile both inside and outside the plane of imaging was higher with MDCT than with SD CT. Organ dose also was higher with MDCT than with SD CT."

Because retrospective gating exposes the patient to significantly higher radiation, several techniques have been implemented to reduce those exposures. Mahnken et al<sup>75</sup> studied body-weight dosing (reducing the radiation exposure based on body size) and measured the mean of the effective radiation dose with and without dose modulation. The radiation dose for a calcium scan using MDCT was 4.44 mSv (range, 3.28 to 5.88 mSv) for women and 3.01 mSv (range, 2.52 to 4.18 mSv) for men, whereas with dose modulation, the mean of the calculated radiation dose was 3.34 mSv (range, 2.39 to 3.83 mSv) for women and 2.66 mSv (range, 2.09 to 3.53) for men.

### 1.6.1. Radiation Exposure During CT Angiography

MDCT angiography requires retrospective gating, associated with significantly greater radiation exposures, to acquire images. Radiation doses of cardiac MDCT scans reported in the literature vary a great deal depending on the scan parameter settings. The tube voltages in the published protocols vary from 120 to 140 kVp, and the tube currents vary from 150 to 600 mA.76 In contrast, the scan settings of EBCT used for cardiac imaging were fixed, in the older technology, to 130 kVp, 630 mA, and 100-ms exposure time. These EBCT settings have been somewhat altered, however, by the newer e-Speed technology, with both higher kVp and mA potential (140 kVp, 1000 mA). Newer protocols for MDCT angiography allow for increased power utilization, with settings as high as 900 mA possible. These higher settings will further increase the radiation dose, which is an issue to be considered when performing these protocols.

Pitch is calculated as table speed divided by collimator width. A low pitch (low table speed) allows for overlapping data from adjacent detectors. Most commonly, physicians use a low table speed and thin collimation width, leading to a large number of very thin axial slices, which are of great value for imaging the heart with high resolution. The tradeoff for these overlapping images is a markedly higher radiation exposure.<sup>76</sup> These protocols are also responsible for substantial increases in radiation doses, especially for the MDCT

Author Year <sup>Reference</sup>	EBCT Effective Dose	MDCT Prospective Trigger	MDCT Retrospective Gating	EBCT Angiography	MDCT Angiography	Cardiac Catheterization
Becker. 1999 <sup>46</sup>	0.8 mSv	incopocitio mggor	5.3 mSv	, anglography	, anglographi j	3.3 mSv
Ohnesorge, 2002 <sup>69</sup>			3.0 mSv (m)			
0,			4.0 mSv (f)			
Cohnen, 200173			2.8 mSv (m)			
			3.6 mSv (f)			
Jakobs, 2002 <sup>84</sup>		2 mSv (m)				
		2.5 (f)				
		1 mSv (m)*				
		1.4 (f)*				
Hunold, 2003 <sup>10</sup>	1 mSv (m)	1.5 mSv (m)	3 mSv (m)	1.5 mSv (m)	10.9 mSv (m)	2.1 mSv (m)
	1.3 mSv (f)	1.8 mSv (f)	3.6 mSv (f)	2.0 mSv (f)	13.0 mSv (f)	2.5 mSv (f)
Morin, 2003 <sup>9</sup>	0.7 mSv	1.0 mSv	2.6-4.1 mSv	1.1 mSv	9.3–11.3 mSv	
Kopp, 2002 <sup>169</sup>			7.6 mSv (m)			
			9.2 mSv (f)			
Achenbach, 2001 <sup>166</sup>			6.7 mSv (m)			
			8.1 mSv (f)			
Flohr, 200377		0.5 mSv (m)	1.9–2.2 mSv (m)		5.7–7.1 mSv (m)	
		0.8 mSv (f)	2.8–3.1 mSv (f)		8.5–10.5 mSv (f)	
			1-1.5 mSv (m)*		2.9–5 mSv (m)*	
			1.4-2 (f)*		4.2-7.4 mSv (f)*	
Trabold, 200378			2.9 mSv (m)		8.1 mSv (m)	
			3.6 mSv (f)		10.9 mSv (f)	
			1.6 mSv (m)*		4.3 (m)*	
			2 mSv (f)*		5.6 (f)*	
Carr, 200049	0.6 mSv (m)	0.9–1.5 mSv (m)	4.6 mSv (m)			
	0.7 mSv (f)	1.1–1.9 mSv (f)	5.6 mSv (f)			
Raff, 200580					13 mSv (m)	
					18 mSv (f)	

TABLE 4. Radiation Doses With EBCT and MDCT Coronary Angiography

(m) indicates male; (f), female.

\*With dose modulation.

systems, with dose estimates of up to 11 to 13 mSv per study (Table 4).

Two studies have measured the radiation doses for CT angiography, comparing EBCT and 4-slice MDCT. The first reported EBCT angiography doses of 1.5 to 2.0 mSv, MDCT angiography doses of 8 to 13 mSv, and coronary angiography doses of 2.1 to 2.3 mSv, while the second reported EBCT angiography doses of 1.1 mSv and MDCT doses of 9.3 to 11.3 mSv.9,10 Newer MDCT studies report that radiation doses are similar with 16-level multidetector scanners and higher with 64 MDCT.77,78 Studies estimate radiation exposure for 16-row MDCT at 8.8 mSev for a  $16 \times 0.75$ -mm scan protocol with a pitch of 0.28 and power of 370 mA79 and at 13 and 18 mSv (for men and women, respectively) with 64-row MDCT.<sup>80</sup> It should be noted that nuclear imaging has similar radiation exposure doses for cardiac studies (8 to 12 mSv).81 Specifically, technetium studies are on the lower end of this spectrum (6 to 8 mSev on average), and thallium studies have been reported as high as 27 mSv.82

With the retrospective ECG-gating mode, scan data are acquired and available for the entire phase of the cardiac

cycle. In most cases, however, the scan data used for image reconstruction are selected only during the diastolic phase. This implies that a high tube current is required only during the diastolic phase and that a low tube current is acceptable during the remaining cardiac phase. Modulating the tube current online with prospective ECG control (dose modulation) is reported to help reduce radiation exposure substantially without decreasing diagnostic image quality.<sup>83,84</sup>

For MDCT coronary angiography, dose modulation techniques reduce radiation exposures<sup>84</sup> and should be employed whenever possible. The effects of dose reduction are more pronounced for lower heart rates. Also, using the lowest necessary mA during each study will also help limit radiation exposures during these procedures. For MDCT, increased numbers of detectors allow for better collimation and spatial reconstructions. Having more of the heart visualized simultaneously will also allow for reductions in the contrast requirements and breathholding for the patient, further improving the methodology.

In summary, CT technology is evolving rapidly and radiation exposures are likely to be reduced with modification of the hardware and scanning protocols. The clinical relevance of differences in radiation dose between different technologies is unknown, but most would agree that less radiation is better for patients than more radiation. The AHA Writing Group, reviewing the available literature, endorses the use of a prospective ECG trigger for measurement of CACP with a slice collimation of 1.5 to 3 mm for clinical practice. EBCT systems have an effective dose of 0.7 to 1 mSv (for men) and 0.9 to 1.3 mSv (for women), and MDCT systems have an effective dose of 1 to 1.5 mSv (for men) and 1 to 1.8 mSv (for women).<sup>9,10,76</sup> For CT angiography, the higher radiation doses suggest the need for greater forethought when using these tests, and use of these higher radiation exposure tests in asymptomatic persons for screening purposes is not currently recommended.

## 2. Clinical Utility of CACP Detection

This is the first time that the AHA evidence-based scoring system (see http://circ.ahajournals.org/manual/manual\_IIstep6. shtml) has been incorporated into the AHA's evaluation of cardiac CT. The purpose of the scoring system is to assist the clinician in interpreting these recommendations and formulating treatment decisions. The system is based on both a classification of recommendation has been assigned a class and a level of evidence. The use of this system should support but not supplant the clinician's decision making in the management of individual patients' cases.

#### **Classification of Recommendations**

• Class I: Conditions for which there is evidence, general agreement, or both that a given procedure or treatment is useful and effective.

• **Class II:** Conditions for which there is conflicting evidence, a divergence of opinion, or both about the usefulness/ efficacy of a procedure or treatment.

• Class IIa: Weight of evidence/opinion is in favor of usefulness/efficacy.

• **Class IIb:** Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion.

• **Class III:** Conditions for which there is evidence, general agreement, or both that the procedure/treatment is not useful/ effective and in some cases may be harmful.

### Level of Evidence

• Level of Evidence A: Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials

• Level of Evidence B: Data derived from a single randomized trial or nonrandomized studies

• Level of Evidence C: Consensus opinion of experts

## **2.1.** CT Coronary Calcium and Symptomatic Patients

The utility of measuring CAC in symptomatic patients has been widely studied and discussed in depth in a previous ACC/AHA statement,<sup>4</sup> as well as in the recent AHA Cardiac Imaging Committee consensus statement, "The Role of Cardiac Imaging in the Clinical Evaluation of Women With Known or Suspected Coronary Artery Disease."<sup>5</sup> A positive

 TABLE 5.
 Sensitivity and Specificity of Diagnostic Tests for

 Evaluation of CAD
 Figure 1

	No. of Patients	Sensitivity, %	Specificity, %
Stress treadmill <sup>85</sup>	2456	52	71
Exercise SPECT <sup>85,86</sup>	4480	87	73
Stress echocardiography <sup>85</sup>	2637	85	77
EBCT calcium <sup>22,23,89</sup>	5730	85	75

EBCT study (indicating the presence of CACP) is nearly 100% specific for atheromatous coronary plaque<sup>4,5,26–28</sup> but is not highly specific for obstructive disease, as both obstructive and nonobstructive lesions have calcification present in the intima. The presence of CACP by EBCT is extremely sensitive, however, for obstructive (>50% luminal stenosis) CAD (95% to 99%).<sup>4,5,20–22</sup> This has led to much confusion over the interpretation of CACP as a diagnostic test.

A large multicenter study on EBCT for diagnosis of obstructive CAD in symptomatic persons (n=1851) found that the sensitivity and specificity of CACP were 96% and 40%, respectively.<sup>22</sup> However, increasing the cutpoint for calcification markedly improves the specificity. In this same study, increasing the CACP cutpoint to >80 decreased the sensitivity to 79%, while increasing the specificity to 72%. In another large study (n=1764) comparing CACP to angiographic disease, use of a CACP score >100 led to a sensitivity of 95% and a specificity of 79% for the detection of significant obstructive disease by angiography.<sup>23</sup> Summing these 2 large studies (n=3615) leads to a sensitivity of 85%with a specificity of 75%. In a meta-analysis of 44 studies, technetium stress was found to have a mean sensitivity of 87% and mean specificity of 64%,85 similar to the results of CACP. Thus, CACP measurements have a similar accuracy to other commonly accepted modalities for diagnosis of obstructive CAD by angiography (Table 5). For all diagnostic accuracy literature, one must be concerned about posttest referral bias, whereby positive tests are the cause for the referral to the catheterization laboratory. If the test is allowed to be part of the referral pattern, the sensitivity will increase and the specificity will decrease. However, for the 3 studies of EBCT, imaging was performed after the patient was referred for an invasive angiogram. The reason for the low specificity with CAC testing is the presence of CAC in nonobstructive as well as obstructive lesions.

In direct comparison studies, EBCT coronary calcium has been shown to be comparable to nuclear exercise testing in the detection of obstructive CAD.<sup>87,88</sup> The accuracy of EBCT is not limited by concurrent medication, the patient's ability to exercise, baseline ECG abnormalities, or existing wall motion abnormalities. Patients whose studies prove negative would be less likely to undergo invasive angiography. More comparison work between modalities is clearly needed.

Data also support a complementary role for coronary calcium and MPS measurements. A recent study of 1195 patients who underwent CACP measurement and MPS assessment demonstrated that the presence of CACP was the most powerful predictor that a nuclear test would be positive for ischemia and that <2% of all patients with CACP <100

had positive MPS studies.<sup>6</sup> EBCT, owing to its high sensitivity for flow-limiting CAD, may be useful as a filter before angiography or stress nuclear imaging, with more caution in younger patients. Knez et al<sup>89</sup> studied 2115 consecutive symptomatic patients (n=1404 men, mean 62±19 years of age) with no prior diagnosis of CAD, finding CAC in more than 99% of patients with obstructive CAD. No calcium was found in 7 of 872 men (0.7%) and in 1 of 383 women (0.02%) who had significant luminal stenosis on coronary angiography. Seven of these 8 patients with missed obstructive disease and scores of 0 were <45 years of age.

Recent ACC/ASNC appropriateness criteria support that a low calcium score precludes the need for MPS assessment and a high score warrants further assessment.<sup>8</sup> These appropriateness criteria suggest nuclear testing may generally be inappropriate in patients with calcium scores <100, as the probability of obstruction or abnormal scan is very low. However, more recent evidence suggests that MPS may be indicated in patients with diabetes and those with a family history of CAD who have a calcium score <100.<sup>90–92</sup> For the remaining asymptomatic patients, a person with an Agatston score >400 may benefit from functional testing to detect occult ischemia. The use of functional testing is paramount in determining the need for revascularization, as functionally insignificant lesions do not benefit from revascularization.

CACP may also be considered in determining the etiology of cardiomyopathy (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B). The clinical manifestations of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy are often indistinguishable from those with primary dilated cardiomyopathy. One large study of 120 patients with heart failure of unknown etiology demonstrated that the presence of CACP was associated with 99% sensitivity for ischemic cardiomyopathy.93 Another study demonstrated similarly high sensitivity using dual CT to differentiate ischemic from nonischemic cardiomyopathy.94 Direct comparison studies have demonstrated this methodology to be more accurate than echocardiography and MPS techniques.95,96 Additional comparative prognostic and diagnostic evidence is required to evaluate the role of CT as compared with conventional stress imaging techniques, as well as an assessment developing marginal cost-effectiveness models.

Another potential application of CACP relates to the triage of patients with chest pain. Three studies have documented that CACP is a rapid and efficient screening tool for patients admitted to the emergency department with chest pain and for whom ECG findings have been nonspecific.<sup>97–99</sup> These studies show sensitivities of 98% to 100% for identifying patients with acute MI and very low subsequent event rates for persons with negative test results. The high sensitivity and negative predictive value may allow early discharge of those patients with nondiagnostic ECG and negative CACP scans (score=0). Long-term follow-up of this cohort demonstrates patients without demonstrated CACP at the time of the emergency visit are at very low risk of subsequent events.<sup>97</sup>

Recommendation: Patients with chest pain with equivocal or normal ECGs and negative cardiac enzyme studies may be considered for CAC assessment (**Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B**). For the symptomatic patient, exclusion of coronary calcium may be an effective filter before invasive diagnostic procedures or hospital admission. EBCT studies of more than 7600 symptomatic patients undergoing cardiac catheterization demonstrate negative predictive values of 96% to 100%, allowing physicians a high level of confidence that an individual with no coronary calcium (score=0) does not have obstructive angiographic disease.<sup>21–23,89</sup> Calcium scores <100 are associated with a very low probability (<2%) of abnormal perfusion on nuclear stress tests<sup>6</sup> and <1% probability of significant obstruction (>50% stenosis) on cardiac catheterization.<sup>6,21–23,89</sup> While models suggest this is a costeffective algorithm, further testing and prospective analysis are required.<sup>100,101</sup>

Recommendation: Coronary calcium assessment may be reasonable for the assessment of symptomatic patients, especially in the setting of equivocal treadmill or functional testing (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B).

## **2.2.** CT Coronary Calcification and Clinical Outcomes in Asymptomatic Individuals

Calcification of the coronary arteries occurs in approximate proportion to the severity and extent of coronary atherosclerosis.<sup>102</sup> In a landmark study of atherosclerosis, persons dying of coronary disease were found to have 2-fold to 5-fold greater amounts of coronary calcification than age-matched controls dying accidentally or of other natural causes.<sup>103</sup> Eight studies have examined the prognostic accuracy of CACP score by EBCT.

The first and longest study of EBCT scanning of the coronary arteries, the South Bay Heart Watch study,1,104-106 began in 1990 as a prospective study of the prognostic accuracy of cardiac fluoroscopy in 1461 asymptomatic, high-risk individuals. In 1992, 1289 study participants (mean age 66±8 years) underwent EBCT scanning. Although an early analysis revealed no incremental advantage of EBCT scanning over conventional risk factor assessment for hard coronary events,<sup>104</sup> long-term (median=7.0 years) follow-up has demonstrated that the CACP score adds predictive power beyond that of standard coronary risk factors and C-reactive protein.<sup>1,105</sup> In multivariable models, a CACP score >300 was highly statistically significant and independently predictive of fatal or nonfatal MI, compared with a score of 0 (HR=3.9, P < 0.001). In this study, patients with an FRS of 16% to 20% and a CAC score  $\geq$  300 had an annual event rate of 2.8%. This patient group would therefore have the 10-year event rate  $\geq 20\%$  that indicates high risk by current NCEP criteria.

From a retrospective cohort study of 632 asymptomatic persons (mean age 52 $\pm$ 9 years, mean follow-up =2.7 years), the annual rate of nonfatal MI or CHD death increased from 0.045% in the lowest quartile of calcium scores to 2.7% among subjects in the highest quartile of calcium scores (a 59-fold increase).<sup>107</sup> Thus, patients with high calcific plaque burden did exceed the high-risk threshold (>2% per year hard cardiac event rate). These investigators demonstrated that EBCT added incremental benefit over and above standard coronary risk factors for risk prediction.<sup>108</sup>

Another study of 1172 asymptomatic persons (mean age  $53\pm11$  years, follow-up=3.6 years) demonstrated that a calcium score >160 was highly predictive of nonfatal MI or CHD death with an elevated risk 23.3-fold higher for CACP scores >160 versus CACP <160.<sup>109</sup> This study did not measure risk factors but did multivariable analysis to adjust for self-reported cardiovascular risk factors.

Wong et al<sup>110</sup> reported on 3.3-year follow-up in 926 asymptomatic persons (mean age  $54\pm10$  years). The calcium score predicted events independently of age, gender, and other cardiovascular risk factors (risk-adjusted RR=8.8 for scores in the fourth versus first quartile). Kondos et al<sup>111</sup> reported 37-month follow-up in 5635 initially asymptomatic low-risk to intermediate-risk adults (mean age  $51\pm9$  years). While follow-up was only obtained in 64% of patients, multivariable modeling demonstrated that patients with scores >170 (top quartile of scores) had an RR for hard cardiac events of 7.24-fold (95% CI, 2.01 to 26.15) as compared with patients without CACP. Finally, in a larger cohort of 10 377 asymptomatic individuals undergoing cardiac risk factor evaluation and CACP measurement with EBCT, a study with a mean follow-up of 5.0 years<sup>112</sup> used a risk-adjusted model to show that CACP was an independent predictor of all-cause mortality (P < 0.001).

Shemesh et al<sup>113</sup> reported on a 3.8-year follow-up of 446 hypertensive patients prospectively followed up after risk factor measurement and CACP. CACP (total coronary calcium score >0) independently predicted cardiovascular events with an odds ratio (OR) of 2.76 (95% CI 1.09 to 6.99, P=0.032). Of note, this was the first prognostic study with MDCT (using a dual-slice CT system).

A significant limitation to a number of the early studies, with the exception of the South Bay Heart Watch Study, is that they were retrospective and did not include measured risk factors. However, 6 recently reported prospective studies, all with measured risk factors, now demonstrate the independent and incremental prognostic value of CAC measurement over the FRS.

The St. Francis Heart Study is a prospective observational study of 4613 subjects ( $59\pm5$  years of age) with 4.3 years of follow-up.<sup>114</sup> A calcium score >100 predicted cardiovascular events, all coronary events, and the sum of nonfatal MI or CHD death events with RR ratios ranging from 9.2 to 11.1. Of note in this prospective series, the calcium score predicted cardiovascular events independently of standard risk factors and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (P<0.004). Additionally, the calcium score also had improved event classification when compared with the FRS (area under the ROC curve 0.79±0.03 versus 0.68±0.03, P=0.0006).

Similarly, in a younger cohort of asymptomatic persons, the Prospective Army Coronary Calcium (PACC) Project<sup>115</sup> reported 3-year mean follow-up in 2000 participants (mean age 43 years). Participants were evaluated with measured coronary risk variables and coronary calcium detected by EBCT. Coronary calcium was associated with an 11.8-fold increased risk for incident CHD (P<0.002) in a Cox model controlling for the FRS. Among those with CAC, the risk of coronary events increased incrementally across tertiles of coronary calcium severity (HR 4.3 per tertile). A family history of premature CHD was also predictive of incident events. A major limitation of this study is that coronary events occurred in only 9 of the men who participated, with no events reported in women. Thus, the CIs around the RR estimates were rather large. The authors concluded, "In young, asymptomatic men, the presence of CAC provides substantial, cost-effective, independent prognostic value in predicting incident CHD that is incremental to measured coronary risk factors."

The Rotterdam Heart Study<sup>116</sup> investigated a general, asymptomatic population of 1795 elderly subjects. Participants who were followed up prospectively (mean age=71 years) had CAC and measured risk factors. During a mean follow-up of 3.3 years, 88 cardiovascular events, including 50 coronary events, occurred. The multivariable-adjusted RR of coronary events was 3.1 (95% CI, 1.2 to 7.9) for calcium scores of 101 to 400, 4.6 (95% CI, 1.8 to 11.8) for calcium scores of 401 to 1000, and 8.3 (95% CI, 3.3 to 21.1) for calcium scores of 0 to 100. Risk prediction based on the cardiovascular risk factors improved when coronary calcification was also taken into account.

The Cooper Clinic Study<sup>117</sup> included 10 746 adults who were 22 to 96 years of age and who were free of known CHD. During a mean follow-up of 3.5 years, 81 hard events (CHD death, nonfatal MI) occurred. Age-adjusted rates (per 1000 person-years) of hard events were computed according to 4 CAC categories: no detectable CAC and incremental sexspecific thirds of detectable CAC; these rates were, respectively, 0.4%, 1.5%, 4.8%, and 8.7% (trend P<0.0001) for men and 0.7%, 2.3%, 3.1%, and 6.3% (trend P<0.02) for women. The association between CAC and CHD events remained significant after adjustment for CHD risk factors. The results revealed a strong, graded association between CAC scores and incident CHD events among asymptomatic individuals free of known CHD at the time of EBCT scanning. The findings were consistent for men and women and held after adjustment for age and conventional CHD risk factors. CAC was associated with CHD events in persons with no baseline CHD risk factors and in younger (<40 years of age) and older (>65 years of age) study participants.

A Munich study determined the extent of CAC by MDCT in 924 patients (443 men, 481 women, 59.4±18.7 years of age).<sup>118</sup> During the 3-year follow-up period, the event rates for coronary revascularization (5.4%/year versus 2.9%/year), MI (3.8%/year versus 1.8%/year), and cardiac death (2.1%/ year versus 1.0%/year) in patients with volume scores above the 75th percentile were significantly higher compared with the total study group. Correspondingly, the volume scores in patients with revascularization  $(397\pm187)$ , MI  $(412\pm176)$ , and cardiac death (422±184) were significantly higher compared with patients without cardiovascular events ( $218 \pm 167$ ). In addition, no cardiovascular events occurred in patients with scores of 0. In this study, 44 of 50 (88%) of MIs occurred in patients with scores in the top 25th percentile, and a receiving operator characteristic (ROC) curve demonstrated that the calcium score outperformed both Prospective Cardiovascular Münster (PROCAM) study and FRS (P < 0.0001), where 36% and 34% of MIs occurred in the high-risk cohorts, respectively.

From a synthesis of both retrospective and prospective cohort studies, there appears to be a directly proportional relationship between CHD risk and the extent of CAC, as measured by the Agatston score. According to a meta-analysis by Pletcher et al,<sup>119</sup> the risk of major CHD events increased 2.1-fold and 10-fold for scores ranging from 1 to 100 and >400, respectively, as compared with scores of 0. This relationship has been established when predicting all-cause mortality, cardiovascular events, CHD death or nonfatal MI, and overall CHD events. When estimating all-cause mortality, researchers report the independent prognostic value of the coronary calcium score for diabetics and smokers, including specific outcome evaluations in women.<sup>92,120,121</sup>

A study demonstrated the risk stratification in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes in a prospective evaluation of coronary artery calcium and MPS.91,92 Established risk factors and CAC scores were prospectively measured in 510 asymptomatic individuals with type 2 diabetes (mean age  $53\pm8$  years, 61% men) without prior cardiovascular disease. MPS was performed in all subjects with CAC >100 Agatston units (AU) (n=127) and a random sample of the remaining patients with CAC  $\leq 100$  AU (n=53). Twenty events occurred (2 coronary deaths, 9 nonfatal MIs, 3 acute coronary syndromes, 3 nonhemorrhagic strokes, and 3 late revascularizations) during a median follow-up of 2.2 years (25th to 75th percentile=1.9 to 2.5 years). Multivariable logistic regression analysis showed that CAC score was the only predictor of myocardial perfusion abnormality (P < 0.001). In the multivariable model, the CAC score and extent of myocardial ischemia were the only independent predictors of outcome (P<0.0001). ROC analysis demonstrated that CAC predicted cardiovascular events with the best area under the curve (0.92), significantly better than the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study Risk Score (0.74) and the FRS (0.60, P < 0.0001). The RR of a cardiovascular event for a CAC score of 101 to 400 was 10.1 and increased to 58.1 for scores >1000 (P< 0.0001). The RR for ischemic burden was 5.5 for 1% to 5% burden, increasing to 12.3 for an ischemic burden >5% (P<0.0001). No cardiac events or perfusion abnormalities occurred in subjects with CAC  $\leq 10$  AU up until 2 years of follow-up. CAC and MPS findings were synergistic for the prediction of short-term cardiovascular events. The authors concluded that subclinical atherosclerosis measured by CAC imaging is superior to the established cardiovascular risk factors for predicting silent myocardial ischemia and short-term outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes.

## 2.3. Limitations

The potential risk stratification (whether with CAC or other tests) first requires calculation of the Framingham risk. For example, a 45-year-old man with a total cholesterol of 225 mg/dL, an HDL cholesterol of 45 mg/dL, and systolic blood pressure of 140 mm Hg has a 10-year risk of 4% if he is not a smoker. If the same individual has a systolic blood pressure of 160 mm Hg, his 10-year risk is still only 5%. The article by Greenland et al<sup>1</sup> demonstrated the futility of calcium scanning

when the Framingham risk is <10%. In that study, when the FRS was 0% to 9%, there was no increased risk with a CACS  $\geq 301.^{1}$  Similar data are available from the St. Francis Heart Study.<sup>114</sup> Thus, the risk stratification of individuals at low risk for CHD (<10% risk in 10 years) will not change with CACS testing, a conclusion further supported by the US Preventive Services Task Force.<sup>20</sup>

Modifying this case illustrates how noninvasive testing could influence patient treatment in an intermediate-risk patient. Consider the same patient 5 years later, this 50-yearold asymptomatic man who does not smoke, who has a blood pressure level of 140/85 mm Hg (treated), total cholesterol of 225 mg/dL, and HDL cholesterol of 45 mg/dL. This man's risk now falls into the "intermediate" zone with a 10% risk. If further testing were done with EBCT and a coronary calcium score >169 were found, the physician would be able to reassign him to a higher risk category (at least 20% in 10 years) and justifiably proceed more aggressively to reduce his risk factors.<sup>122</sup> Data from Greenland et al<sup>1</sup> demonstrated that intermediate-risk patients with an elevated CAC score (intermediate FRS and CAC >300) had an annual hard event rate of 2.8%, or a 10-year rate of 28%, and thus would be considered high risk. The best estimates of RR from this study demonstrated that a CAC score >300 had an HR of about 4 compared with a score of 0. This would mean that the estimated risk in the intermediate patient with a CAC score of 0 might be reduced by at least 2-fold, while the risk of a person with a CAC score of 300+ would be increased by about 2-fold. Thus, the person with high CAC and intermediate FRS is now reclassified as high risk. If the calcium score were 0 or very low, the patient's posttest risk assessment would be reduced.

Two of the largest studies with measured risk factors demonstrate a posttest probability of events of approximately 0.1% per year for persons without CACP present. Taylor et al<sup>115</sup> prospectively followed 3000 persons (mean age 43 years) for 3 years. CHD events occurred in only 2 of 1263 participants without CAC (event rate 0.16%; P<0.0001). Thus, a negative scan was associated with a 0.05% per year risk of events. In another large prospective, cohort study, 4903 asymptomatic persons 50 to 70 years of age were assessed: Only 8 of 1504 persons (0.5%) with scores of 0 had a coronary event over the next 4.3 years, with an annual event rate of only 0.1%. Two small prospective studies demonstrated no events in persons with scores of 0 over 2 to 3 years of follow-up.91,92 The longest studies performed to date demonstrate that there is still a possible risk of MI or death associated with a negative (0) scan. In this study, 14 events occurred among 316 persons with scores of 0 at baseline over the subsequent median follow-up of 7 years (annual event rate 0.6%, 10-year risk 6.3%).1

EBCT is one of many contenders in a crowded field of emerging CAD risk-assessment tools. For example, other noninvasive modalities (eg, carotid intima-media thickness) and blood tests (eg, homocysteine and C-reactive protein) are under investigation with the aim of improving our ability to risk-stratify patients. Clinicians require high standards for assessing the value of new medical therapies and devices; evidence-based methods for evaluating screening strategies

IABLE 6. Characteristics and Risk Ratio for Follow-Up Studies Using EBC	l Risk Ratio for Follow-Up Studies Us	Studies Using EBCT
---	---------------------------------------	--------------------

Author	No.	Mean Age, y	Follow-Up Duration, y	Calcium Score Cutoff	Comparative Group for RR Calculation	Risk Factor Assessment	Relative Risk Ratio
EBCT studies in symptomatic coh	orts						
Georgiou <sup>98</sup>	192	53	4.2	Median*	Below median	Measured	13.1
Detrano <sup>123</sup>	491	57	2.5	Top quartile	Bottom quartile	Self-reported	10.8
Keelan <sup>124</sup>	288	56	6.9	Median (>480)	Below median	Measured	3.2
Moehlenkamp <sup>125</sup>	150	63	5	CACP >1000	No CACP	Measured	2.5
EBCT studies in asymptomatic po	pulations						
Arad <sup>109</sup>	1173	53	3.6	CACP	CACP	Self-reported	20.2
				>160	<160		
Detrano <sup>104</sup>	1196	66	3.4	CACP > 44	CACP < 44	Measured	2.3
Park <sup>105</sup> (subset of Detrano <sup>104</sup> )	967	67	6.4	CACP >142.1	CACP < 3.7	Measured	4.9
Raggi <sup>107</sup>	632	52	2.7	Top quartile <sup>+</sup>	Lowest quartile	Self-reported	13
Shemesh <sup>113</sup>	446	64	3.8	CACP > 0	CACP=0	Measured	2.8
Wong <sup>110</sup>	926	54	3.3	Top quartile	Lowest quartile	Self-reported	8.8
Arad <sup>114</sup>	4613	59	4.3	$CACP \ge 100$	CACP < 100	Measured	9.2
Kondos <sup>111</sup>	5635	51	3.1	CACP	No CACP	Self-reported	3.86 (men)
							1.53‡ (women)
Greenland <sup>1</sup>	1312	66	7.0	CACP > 300	No CACP	Measured	3.9
Shaw <sup>112</sup>	10 377	53	5	CACP 401-1000	$\text{CACP} \leq 10$	Self-reported	6.2§
Taylor <sup>115</sup>	2000	43	3	CACP	No CACP	Measured	11.8
LaMonte <sup>117</sup>	10 746	54	3.5	CACP top third	No CACP	Measured	8.7 (men)
							6.3 (women)
Vliegenthart <sup>116</sup>	1795	71	3.3	>1000	0-100	Measured	8.1
Becker <sup>118</sup>	924	60	3	Top quartile (75th percentile)	Total study group	Measured	7.3

Duplicate series: Detrano, Park, and Greenland.

CACP indicates coronary artery calcium score; RR, relative risk ratio.

\*Using age- and gender-matched cohorts, representing top quartile.

†Using age- and gender-matched cohorts, representing the top quintile.

 $\pm$ After multivariate analysis, *P*<0.05 for men, *P*=not significant for women.

§End point was all-cause mortality.

are important, as they ultimately dictate downstream testing, treatments, and costs. Current data support the benefit of CACP as a diagnostic test for particular patient populations in terms of diagnostic efficacy, acceptable safety, and affordability; however, further studies are warranted.

Despite the high quality of risk-stratification evidence, evidence is not available that screening with EBCT improves clinical outcomes by reducing mortality or morbidity from CAD (see section 2.5). In addition, cost-effectiveness models for the use of CACP are currently limited, since no study has demonstrated that EBCT reduces healthcare costs. The evidence does suggest that widespread and routine EBCT screening is unlikely to benefit low-risk or high-risk patients. Few patients with a low pretest probability of CAD will see their risk levels change enough to lead to changes in medical management. Patients with high pretest probabilities or diabetes are essentially at CAD-equivalent risk regardless of calcium score, and treatment of risk factors rather than screening would be more appropriate. There will be an expected decrease in efficacy of this test in older patients (men >70 years of age or women >75 years of age), as atherosclerosis is more widespread in the elderly.

#### 2.4. Recommendations of Professional Societies

In 2000, the ACC/AHA acknowledged the potential of coronary calcium to predict major coronary events.<sup>4</sup> However, due to the mixed data available at the time, routine scanning was not recommended. Subsequently, additional data have been published to strengthen the conclusion that CAC affords incremental risk prognostication (Table 6). The AHA Prevention Conference V concluded that "selected patients" could have CACP testing if initially found to be at intermediate risk (Table 7).<sup>2</sup> That committee agreed with a perspective paper<sup>126</sup> supporting the use of EBCT for risk stratification in intermediate-risk patients, which stated: "Recent work suggests that ... EBCT... can also improve risk prediction in intermediate-risk patients."109 Thus, with a prior probability of a coronary event in the intermediate range  $(\geq 6\%$  in 10 years but  $\leq 20\%$  in 10 years), a calcium score of >100 would yield a posttest probability >2% per year in the

#### TABLE 7. Interpretation and Recommendations for CT Heart Scanning and CACP Scoring

- 1. A negative test (score=0) makes the presence of atherosclerotic plaque, including unstable or vulnerable plaque, highly unlikely.
- A negative test (score=0) makes the presence of significant luminal obstructive disease highly unlikely (negative predictive power by EBCT on the order of 95% to 99%).
- 3. A negative test is consistent with a low risk (0.1% per year) of a cardiovascular event in the next 2 to 5 years.
- 4. A positive test (CAC >0) confirms the presence of a coronary atherosclerotic plaque.
- 5. The greater the amount of coronary calcium, the greater the atherosclerotic burden in men and women, irrespective of age.
- 6. The total amount of coronary calcium correlates best with the total amount of atherosclerotic plaque, although the true "atherosclerotic burden" is underestimated.
- 7. A high calcium score (an Agatston score >100) is consistent with a high risk of a cardiac event within the next 2 to 5 years (>2% annual risk).
- Coronary artery calcium measurement can improve risk prediction in conventional intermediate-risk patients, and CACP scanning should be considered in individuals at intermediate risk for a coronary event (1.0% per year to 2.0% per year) for clinical decision-making with regard to refinement of risk assessment.
- 9. Decisions for further testing (such as stress testing or cardiac catheterization) beyond assistance in risk stratification in patients with a positive CACP score cannot be made on the basis of coronary calcium scores alone, as calcium score correlates poorly with stenosis severity in a given individual and should be based upon clinical history and other conventional clinical criteria.

Adapted from ACC/AHA expert consensus document on EBCT for the diagnosis and prognosis of CAD.<sup>4</sup>

majority of patients, within the range of a CHD risk equivalent population and within a level requiring secondary prevention strategies.

The NCEP ATP III<sup>3</sup> supports the conclusions of the Prevention Conference V<sup>2</sup> and the ACC/AHA report<sup>4</sup> that high coronary calcium scores confirm an increased risk for future cardiac events, stating:

Measurement of coronary calcium is an option for advanced risk assessment in appropriately selected persons. In persons with multiple risk factors, high coronary calcium scores (eg, >75th percentile for age and sex) denote advanced coronary atherosclerosis and provide a rationale for intensified LDL-lowering therapy. Moreover, measurement of coronary calcium is promising for older persons in whom the traditional risk factors lose some of their predictive power.

The European Cardiovascular Guidelines state, "The resulting calcium score is an important parameter to detect asymptomatic individuals at high risk for future CVD events, independent of the traditional risk factors."<sup>126</sup>

The Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging published guidelines for calcium scanning, with class I indications including (1) initial diagnostic test in ambulatory adults <65 years of age with atypical chest symptoms, in the absence of established cardiovascular disease; (2) supplementary diagnostic test in adults <65 years of age with indeterminate stress test results; and (3) emergency department evaluation of men <50 years of age and women <60 years of age with chest pain and normal or nondiagnostic ECGs. Class IIa recommendations include use for screening intermediate-risk patients and for assisting physicians in decision-making regarding initiation or change of drug therapy for cholesterol abnormalities in patients without established CVD.<sup>127</sup>

The 2004 AHA statement "Evidence-Based Guidelines for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Women"<sup>128</sup> deemed coronary calcification to be evidence of intermediate risk (10% to 20% 10-year risk) with a caveat that some patients with subclinical CVD will have >20% 10-year CHD risk and should be elevated to the high-risk category. The US Preven-

tive Services Task Force recommends against CACP scanning for either the presence of severe coronary artery stenosis or for prediction of CHD events in patients with no CHD symptoms or risk factors, specifically the low-risk patient.<sup>20</sup> This Task Force recommended neither for nor against scanning of intermediate-risk or high-risk patients.

A 2005 AHA scientific statement on cardiac imaging in women addressed the data on CACP5: "Given the evolving literature. . . current data indicate that CAD risk stratification is possible. Specifically, low CACP scores are associated with a low adverse event risk, and high CACP scores are associated with a worse event-free survival." This guideline included a recommendation to measure atherosclerosis burden using cardiac CT in clinically selected intermediate-CAD risk patients (eg, those with a 10% to 20% Framingham 10-year risk estimate) to refine clinical risk prediction and to select patients for more aggressive target values for lipidlowering therapies.<sup>5</sup> Some guidelines (eg, AHA and NCEP ATP III) define intermediate risk as 10% to 20%, while others such as the Bethesda Conference define it as 6% to 20%.129 A new ACC Clinical Expert Consensus Document for the recommended use of CACP is currently being drafted.

# **2.5. Utilizing Coronary Calcium Measure to Improve Outcomes**

Ideally, there should be evidence that a strategy of refining risk assessments is associated with improved clinical outcomes compared with conventional risk prediction. No study has definitively demonstrated that screening with EBCT improves clinical outcomes by reducing mortality or morbidity from CAD. One study failed to show a significant effect of statins on outcomes when calcium scores were high (P=0.08).<sup>130</sup> This study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial of atorvastatin 20 mg daily, vitamin C 1 g daily, and vitamin E (alpha-tocopherol) 1000 U daily versus matching placebos in 1005 asymptomatic, apparently healthy men and women 50 to 70 years of age with coronary calcium scores at or above the 80th percentile for age and gender. All study participants also received

aspirin, 81 mg daily. Mean duration of treatment was 4.3 years.

Treatment reduced low-density lipoprotein cholesterol by 39.1% to 43.4% (P<0.0001) and triglycerides by 11.2% to 17.0% (P≤0.02), while reducing clinical end points by 30% (6.9% versus 9.9%, P=0.08). Event rates were related to baseline calcium score (prespecified analysis) and have been reduced in a subgroup of participants with baseline calcium score >400 (8.7% versus 15.0%, P=0.046 [42% reduction, not a prespecified analysis]). The magnitude of the risk reductions was similar to those in studies published to date of the same cholesterol-lowering agent in primary prevention cohorts.<sup>131</sup>

This study sample, however, was too small to detect a benefit given the surprisingly low overall rate of cardiovascular end points in asymptomatic patients. The authors of the trial acknowledged several limitations. Firstly, the power analysis was based on an event reduction with both statin and antioxidants, and thus, when antioxidants failed to reduce events, the study was significantly underpowered. Furthermore, all patients received aspirin, so this may have also reduced the primary end point in both placebo and treatment groups. However, a large, well-done randomized trial has been performed, yielding similarly negative results.

The 30% reduction in the primary end point of this study is similar to the reduction of atherosclerotic CVD (ASCVD) events seen in other large randomized clinical trials of statins, a class of drugs with unquestionable efficacy in this application.<sup>132</sup> This study had power of just 0.61 to detect a 30% reduction in events. Treatment reduced all CAD events by 28% (P=0.13), the sum of nonfatal MI and CHD death by 44% (P=0.14), and all ASCVD events occurring >90 days after initiation of therapy by 33% (P=0.07).

The definition of high risk on CAC was chosen based on age-based and gender-based cohorts rather than atherosclerosis burden (ie, absolute CAC scores). This was recommended as a risk-stratification technique in the NCEP ATP III report<sup>3</sup> but was later shown to be not as robust a predictor of risk as absolute plaque burden.<sup>131</sup> Thus, the authors established lower calcium score thresholds in younger persons than in older ones. Later evidence revealed that this was incorrect; that is, age was not a significant determinant of events. As a result of this error, the study population contained substantial numbers of low-risk individuals in whom treatment had little effect. Conversely, in 469 subjects with calcium scores >400, treatment reduced the event rate by 42% (P=0.046).

Thus, while outcome studies demonstrating that measurement of CAC leads to improved outcomes remains an ideal, the practicality of performing such a study is challenging.

Recommendations: It may be reasonable to measure atherosclerosis burden using EBCT or MDCT in clinically selected intermediate–CAD risk patients (eg, those with a 10% to 20% Framingham 10-year risk estimate) to refine clinical risk prediction and to select patients for more aggressive target values for lipid-lowering therapies (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: B).

It is important to recognize that widespread and routine EBCT screening is unlikely to benefit low-risk or high-risk patients. Few patients with low pretest probability of CAD will change risk levels enough as a result of the screening to require changes in medical management. Patients with high pretest probabilities or diabetes are essentially at CADequivalent risk regardless of calcium score, and treatment of risk factors would be more appropriate than screening.<sup>133</sup> While several studies demonstrated incremental prognostic ability of CAC in diabetes,<sup>91,92,121</sup> patients with diabetes should be treated for secondary prevention before risk stratification. Furthermore, prior studies have limited generalizability owing to a lack of ethnic diversity in their patient populations.

Recommendation: Low-risk (<10% 10-year risk) and high-risk (>20% 10-year risk) patients do not benefit from CAC measurement (Class III, Level of Evidence: B).

## 2.6. Limitations of the Use of Coronary Calcium for Detecting Obstructive Disease in Asymptomatic Persons

The NCEP ATP III full report states:

The goal of improved risk assessment is a more selective approach to the use of noninvasive cardiovascular studies and of preventive interventions such as lipid lowering, aspirin, or further blood pressure reduction. It must be understood clearly that an abnormal noninvasive test result in an intermediate-risk, asymptomatic person should be interpreted as a predictor for a future cardiovascular event and not as a mandate for diagnosis of the presence or absence of angiographic CAD.<sup>3</sup>

Because the purpose of CACP screening is to detect subclinical atherosclerosis rather than severe stenoses, the data show that invasive procedures should be reserved for symptomatic patients with inducible ischemia. There is limited information showing benefit of revascularization in terms of prolongation or quality of life in asymptomatic patients.<sup>134–136</sup> To avoid inappropriate or unnecessary follow-up testing or invasive therapeutic procedures in patients who undergo EBCT or MDCT, the clinician should determine a priori that the goal of such noninvasive testing is to refine prognostic assessment and then employ, or not, well-proven preventive interventions based on test outcome.

Recommendation: It is not recommended to use CACP measure in asymptomatic persons to establish the presence of obstructive disease for subsequent revascularization (Class III, Level of Evidence: C).

## **3. Future Directions**

### **3.1. Tracking Progression of Subclinical Atherosclerosis**

A proposed use of CACP measurement is to track atherosclerotic changes over time using serial measurements. Before implementation, there are several important questions that need to be answered in regard to rescanning: What incremental change needs to occur between 2 scans for the clinician to be certain, with 95% confidence, that an apparent change is due to a change in the patient? Are there any data showing how often this actually occurs in patients who are reimaged after a year? These questions were answered by 2 studies of patients with dual scans. The first was a trial of 1376 asymptomatic research participants,58 not selected because they were at high risk for CAD, who were examined for the quantity of CAC with dual scan runs using EBCT. With these data, 95% limits of agreement were established and used to evaluate differences between scan runs performed approximately 3.5 years apart in 81 participants. Of those 81 participants, 59 (73%) had no apparent change in CAC between the 2 examinations, 21 (26%) had large increases suggesting progression of CAC, and 1 (1%) had a large decrease suggesting regression of CAC. Another study was conducted to develop a model for determining the smallest statistically significant change in the CAC score between serial measurements in a given subject.137 The study consisted of 2217 pairs of repeated EBCT coronary calcium scans acquired in quick succession. The study evaluated the relationship between the interscan variability and the magnitude of the calcium score, formulating 95% repeatability coefficient equations for the Agatston and volumetric CAC scores. By examining repeatability of quantitative EBCT measurements of CAC as a function of the magnitude of the calcium score, Sevrukov and colleagues137 developed a model to determine the smallest statistically significant change between serial measurements in a given subject.

Several studies have shown that serial EBCT scanning can be utilized to follow the evolution of CACP and aortic valve calcification.138-142 Obviously, a noninvasive tool with which sequential testing could be performed safely and reliably would be highly desirable, and in this light, CACP could become a very useful marker of disease progression. There are a number of methodological considerations that are required for the evaluation of sequential imaging. A recent review of the relevant methodologies has recently been published by Taylor et al.143 Currently, there are only 4 randomized, controlled trials evaluating CACP progression,130,142,144,145 and these types of studies have not yet been reported with MDCT. The theoretical ability of statin therapy to slow or reverse CACP has demonstrated mixed results in the available literature, raising some doubts about using this tool for tracking progression of atherosclerosis.

There are only 4 published studies of outcomes related to CACP progression. The first study demonstrated, in 817 persons, that EBCT-measured progression was the strongest predictor of cardiac events.<sup>146,147</sup> This observational study suggests that continued accumulation of CACP in asymptomatic individuals is associated with increased risk of MI. A second study measured the change in CACP in 495 asymptomatic persons who underwent sequential EBCT scanning.<sup>146</sup> Statins were initiated in all patients after their initial EBCT scan. MI was reported in 49 patients during a follow-up of  $3.2\pm0.7$  years. Interestingly, mean LDL level did not differ between patients experiencing an MI as compared with those who were event free (118±25 mg/dL versus 122±30 mg/dL, MI versus no MI).

On average, MI subjects demonstrated an annual rate of CACP change of  $42\pm23\%$ ; event-free subjects showed a  $17\pm25\%$  yearly change (*P*=0.0001). The associated relative risk for acute MI for patients exhibiting >15% CACP progression was elevated 17.2-fold (95% CI 4.1 to 71.2)

when compared with those without CACP progression (P < 0.0001). In a Cox proportional hazard model, the follow-up score (P = 0.034) as well as a score change >15% per year (P < 0.001) were independent predictors of time to MI. Thus, from this and other reports, we have learned that the baseline score is a determinant of the rate of change even while it provides information for risk-assessment purposes. Patients with higher baseline scores generally exhibit more progression of CACP scores over time. Thus, the baseline score, rate of change, and also the patient's residual risk on the second scan are important determinants of the risk for future adverse cardiovascular events.

The CACP score increases by 15% to 20% annually, with greater increases being associated with increased incidence of MI.52,146 A prospective study using EBCT to measure progression of CACP has just been reported. This prospective observational study evaluated 4613 asymptomatic persons 50 to 70 years of age with EBCT scanning of the coronary arteries at baseline and again at 2 years, with follow-up for 4.3 years.<sup>114</sup> The study demonstrated that the median (interquartile range) calcium score increased by 4 (95% CI 0 to 38) units from baseline to the year 2 scan in subjects who did not sustain a coronary event at any time during the study. In contrast, median (interquartile range) calcium scores increased by 247 (95% CI 40 to 471) units between the baseline and 2-year examinations in 49 subjects who experienced a first coronary disease event after the year 2 scan (P < 0.0001). Multiple logistic regression demonstrated only age (P < 0.03), male gender (P<0.04), LDL cholesterol (P<0.01), HDL cholesterol (P < 0.04), and 2-year change in calcium score (P<0.0001) were significantly associated with subsequent CAD events. Increasing calcium scores were most strongly related to coronary events in this clinical study, similar to the results reported by observational studies.

However, effective treatment based on an increasing score in patients is still unclear. While several small observational studies indicated that vigorous cholesterol lowering retards the rate of progression of CACP,<sup>138–141</sup> a recently published, large randomized clinical trial showed that a combination of atorvastatin 20 mg, vitamin C, and vitamin E had no effect on progression of CACP at 4 years (P=0.80).<sup>130</sup> In this study, baseline coronary calcium score was higher in individuals who sustained ASCVD events (581) than in those who did not (361) (P<0.0001). The coronary calcium score also increased more from the baseline examination to the 2-year examination in those who subsequently experienced ASCVD events than in those who remained event free (256±430 versus 120±286, P<0.01).

In multivariable analysis, including standard CAD risk factors, C-reactive protein, and the baseline coronary calcium score, only the calcium score was significantly associated with disease events (P<0.0001). The change in calcium score, which was highly correlated with the baseline calcium score, did not predict events after adjustment for these variables. The failure of change in calcium score to predict ASCVD events seems to be a function of available statistical power, as the analysis was restricted to subjects who experienced a first event after the year 2 follow-up scan (n=34). Whether these results are unique to the drug combination

employed or would be observed with any cholesterollowering therapy is unknown. Continued progression of CACP appears to be an independent risk factor for future events, but future studies are needed. Despite this information, it is difficult to justify the incremental population exposure to radiation and the cost associated with a repeat CT test to assess "change" until it is better understood what therapies may be of benefit and how clinicians should utilize this data in clinical practice.

Several large observational studies, such as MESA (utilizing both EBCT and MDCT)<sup>50</sup> and RECALL (using EBCT),<sup>51</sup> are currently under way to also assess the prognostic value of increasing CACP burden in population-based samples. Genetic studies measuring calcified plaque with MDCT, such as the NHLBI's Family Heart Study-SCAN are also ongoing and will utilize the vascular calcium phenotype as a means of identifying genes related to atherosclerosis and CVD.

Recommendation: Serial imaging for assessment of progression of coronary calcification is not indicated at this time (Class III, Level of Evidence: B).

## 3.2. Hybrid Nuclear/CT Imaging

Currently available and an area of ongoing clinical research is the application of hybrid PET-CT and SPECT-CT scanners. This hybrid technology will allow for the acquisition of metabolic and/or perfusion information as well as anatomic data, including angiographic data and data on coronary calcification. Hybrid imaging currently remains a research tool with ongoing problems with image registration. Despite this, several recent reports using serial imaging have noted a high rate of coronary calcium in patients with normal perfusion SPECT. From the Berman series in 1119 patients with normal MPS, 20% had coronary calcium scores (CCS) in the range of 400 to 999 and 11% had CCS  $\geq 1000.^{6}$ 

From a recent smaller series of 200 patients in whom SPECT was negative for ischemia, 17.5% of patients had CCS  $\geq 100.^{148}$  These data highlight the underlying, unaddressed risk faced by patients with normal SPECT results who nevertheless have a significant atherosclerotic disease burden. The future application of hybrid or serial imaging strategies will allow for a more precise delineation of anatomic and physiological components in a single test.

Two additional reports have been published on the use of hybrid scanning to assess cardiovascular risk or the present utility of SPECT imaging post-CT measurement of coronary calcium. The first report, on obstructive disease, was a large prospective series of 510 asymptomatic patients with type 2 diabetes. Patients with a calcium score >100 underwent SPECT imaging. A random sample of patients with a calcium score <100 also underwent SPECT. This report indicated that diabetic patients with a calcium score >100 had an increased frequency of abnormal perfusion defects. The rate of abnormal stress perfusion findings ranged from 23% to 71% for those with calcium scores >100 to >1000. These data are important, as they reveal that for individuals with diabetes a higher rate of abnormal SPECT findings is noted for a lower calcium score threshold of >100, as compared with >400 for an unselected patient series. Similar findings of calcium scores >100, associated with an elevated rate of perfusion abnormalities, were recently reported for patients with a family history of premature CHD.<sup>90</sup>

Recommendation: The incremental benefit of hybrid imaging strategies will need to be demonstrated before clinical implementation, as radiation exposure may be significant with dual nuclear/CT imaging. Therefore, hybrid nuclear/CT imaging is not recommended (**Class III, Level of Evidence: C**).

## **3.3.** Contrast-Enhanced CT of the Coronary Arteries

When higher resolution image acquisition protocols (thinner slice collimation, higher x-ray tube current) are combined with intravenous injection of contrast agent, EBCT and MDCT permit visualization of the coronary artery lumen, coronary atherosclerotic plaque, and coronary stenoses. The small dimensions of coronary arteries, plaque, and stenoses make imaging by CT quite difficult. Also, the contrast that can be achieved between the vessel lumen, atherosclerotic plaque and vessel wall, and the surrounding structures is lower than that of coronary calcium versus the surrounding tissue. Thus, image acquisition protocols have to be tailored for maximum resolution, and image quality is, on the one hand, more critical but, on the other hand, not as stable as when coronary calcification alone is assessed.

Tremendous progress regarding spatial resolution, temporal resolution, and image noise has been made with the development from 4- to 16- and 64-row MDCT scanners, and their ability to visualize the coronary lumen and coronary atherosclerotic plaque has substantially improved over the past several years. This development is ongoing. At the moment, the use of EBCT, or MDCT equipment with at least 16 slices, submillimeter rotation speed, and rotation times below 500 ms has to be considered a prerequisite for contrast-enhanced coronary imaging since, in the published studies, data for this equipment were substantially more reliable than for previous scanner generations and because 16-detector scanners are now widely available (although no direct comparisons to previous scanner generations have been published).

#### 3.3.1. Electron Beam CT

When EBCT is performed to visualize the coronary lumen, approximately 160 mL of contrast agent is injected intravenously. Atropine is sometimes used to increase the heart rate, since one image is acquired in each cardiac cycle and faster heart rates will thus decrease the overall scan and breathhold time. Sublingual nitrates are usually given to improve image quality. First comparisons between EBCT and invasive coronary angiography starting in the mid-1990s demonstrated the feasibility of stenosis detection.149-161 Adequate patient selection, careful scan protocols, and careful evaluation of images resulted in a sensitivity to coronary artery stenoses in the proximal and mid segments of the coronary arteries of between 74% and 92%, with specificities of 71% to 95%. However, the limited spatial resolution and long scan time (requiring breathholds of up to 40 seconds) led to image artifacts.

In the early studies using 80% triggering, 11% to 35% of all coronary arteries had to be excluded from evaluation because of severe calcification or motion artifacts.53 Early EBCT studies suffered from limited spatial resolution of the EBCT scanner (owing to fixed image collimation of 3.0 mm) and use of late diastolic triggering (80% of the R-R interval). More recent studies, with use of end-systolic triggering (where coronary motion is reduced) and 1.5-mm slice thickness, reduce the noninterpretability of coronary segments to 5% to 9% (the remaining noninterpretable segments are almost exclusively the result of dense calcifications) and reveal sensitivities of 90% to 91%, specificities of 93% to 94%, and high negative predictive values ( $\geq$ 96%).<sup>160,161</sup> Limitations that still exist with EBCT include the inability to increase the tube current (which leads to limitations concerning image noise), and the limited availability of the scanner has prevented more widespread evaluation and application of EBCT for detection of coronary stenoses.

## 3.3.2. Multidetector CT

Initial studies with 4-detector systems demonstrated the ability of mechanical CT scanners to visualize the coronary arteries.<sup>162–173</sup> However, spatial and temporal resolution were still limited and resulting artifacts precluded image evaluation regarding the presence of hemodynamically significant stenoses in a high percentage of cases (up to 32%). It was recognized that severe calcifications were the most frequent reason for impaired evaluability, owing to partial volume effects which are a consequence of limited spatial resolution. With the introduction of 16-detector systems that combined submillimeter collimation with faster gantry rotation times, image quality in coronary CT angiography became more stable. Several studies with inclusion of 22 to 149 individuals showed that with the further development of scanner technology, robustness and accuracy for detecting and ruling out hemodynamically relevant coronary artery stenoses increased substantially.<sup>174-189</sup> Sensitivities ranging from 72% to 98%, as well as specificities from 86% to 98%, have been reported for the detection of coronary artery stenosis (Table 8).

Studies are now being reported that use 64-detector MDCT. The increased collimation width and greater number of slices obtained allow for shorter examination times by reducing both the breathhold and contrast requirements. The acquisition speeds are not much faster than 16-detector scanners, with the fastest gantry rotation currently at 330 ms. Several single-center studies of 64-row MDCT results have been reported (Table 8).

Leschka et al<sup>12</sup> reported CT angiography in 67 patients with suspected CAD and compared the results with invasive coronary angiography. None of the coronary segments needed to be excluded from analysis. CT correctly identified all 20 patients having no significant stenosis on invasive angiography. Overall sensitivity for classifying stenoses was 94%, specificity was 97%, positive predictive value was 87%, and negative predictive value was 99%. Leber et al<sup>190</sup> studied 59 patients with stable angina pectoris. In 55 of 59 patients, 64-slice CT enabled the visualization of the entire coronary tree with diagnostic image quality. Sensitivity for the detection of stenosis <50%, stenosis >50%, and stenosis >75% was 79%, 73%, and 80%, respectively, and specificity was 97%.

Raff et al<sup>80</sup> studied 70 consecutive patients undergoing elective invasive coronary angiography. Patients were excluded for atrial fibrillation. Specificity, sensitivity, and positive and negative predictive values for the presence of significant stenoses were by artery (n=279), 91%, 92%, 80%, and 97%, respectively; by patient (n=70), 95%, 90%, 93%, and 93%, respectively. Subset analysis confirms that patients with calcium scores >400, obesity (body mass index >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and heart rates >70 bpm remain a challenge to diagnose. Several additional studies confirmed sensitivities between 95% and 99% and specificities between 93% and 96% for the detection of coronary artery stenoses by 64-slice CT.<sup>191–193</sup>

For all MDCT scanner generations, including 64-row CT, it has been convincingly shown that low heart rates significantly improve image quality and evaluability.<sup>194–197</sup> In addition, the effectiveness of algorithms that modulate the x-ray tube current in synchronization with the patient's ECG to reduce the radiation exposure is higher for lower heart rates.<sup>83,84</sup> Therefore, low heart rates (preferably below 60 bpm) are desirable for MDCT imaging of the coronary arteries, and short-acting  $\beta$ -blockade is often used before scanning. Because of the need for retrospective gating for MDCT angiography, atrial fibrillation and other irregular heart rhythms remain a contraindication.

In a meta-analysis comparing CT angiography to magnetic resonance angiography (MRA),198 a comparison of sensitivity revealed higher diagnostic accuracy for MDCT (weighted [by the proportional sample size] average: 82%, 95% CI 79% to 90%) when compared with MRA (weighted average: 75%, 95% CI 60% to 84%, P=0.029). In this meta-analysis, there was a significant difference that was also observed for the weighted specificity, which was 95% (95% CI 94% to 96%) for MDCT and 87% (95% CI 85% to 88%) for MRA  $(P \le 0.05)$ . A significantly higher odds ratio (11.5-fold) for the presence of significant stenosis (≥50% diameter stenosis) was observed for MDCT as compared with MRA (6.6-fold)  $(P \le 0.0001)$ . It is important to note that this report demonstrated improved specificity for MDCT, when compared with MRA, in populations with a lower disease prevalence (P=0.022).

Finally, a recent meta-analysis by Stein et al<sup>199</sup> reported the diagnostic accuracy by a patient and segmental analysis. Stein and colleagues also performed a subset analysis for CT results that were read while blinded to the invasive angiographic results. These authors noted that the average sensitivity and specificity values were 95% and 84% for 4-slice CT and increased to 100% for 64-slice CT. Additional analyses by these authors revealed a higher (on average) sensitivity for proximal (90%) stenosis when compared with distal (79%) segments. Diagnostic specificity values were  $\geq 90\%$  for proximal, mid, and distal segments. These authors also noted a high diagnostic accuracy for both 16-slice and 64-slice CT for detecting  $\geq$  50% stenosis in the left main coronary artery. Diagnostic sensitivity measurements were similarly high for 16-slice and 64-slice CT for detection of stenosis in the left anterior descending (16-slice=90%, 64-slice=95%), right

TABLE 8.	Results of Contrast-Enhanced EB	T and MDCT for the	Detection of Coronary	Stenoses
----------	---------------------------------	--------------------	-----------------------	----------

			Rate of			Nogativo	
			Segments,	Sensitivity,	Specificity,	Predictive	
Author	Technology	n	%	%	%	Value, %	Remarks
Reports using EBCT							
Nakanishi <sup>150</sup>	EBCT	37	•••	74	95	93	Per-artery analysis
Schmermund <sup>151</sup>	EBCT	28	12	83	91	96	Per-segment analysis, mid and proximal segments
Reddy <sup>152</sup>	EBCT	23	•••	88	79	94	Per-artery analysis
Rensing <sup>153</sup>	EBCT	37	19	77	94	95	Per-segment analysis, mid and proximal segments
Achenbach <sup>154</sup>	EBCT	125	25	92	94	98	Per-artery analysis, proximal and mid segments
Budoff <sup>155</sup>	EBCT	52	11	78	71	91	Per-artery analysis
Achenbach <sup>156</sup>	EBCT	36	20	92	91	92	Per-segment analysis, proximal and mid segments
Leber <sup>157</sup>	EBCT	87	24	87	93	97	Per-segment analysis, proximal and mid segments
Ropers <sup>158</sup>	EBCT	118	24	90	66	96	
Nikolaou <sup>159</sup>	EBCT	20	11	85	77	95	Per-segment analysis, proximal and mid segments
Lu <sup>160</sup>	EBCT	53	35	69	82	93	Per-artery analysis—80% trigger
Lu <sup>161</sup>	EBCT	80	9	91	94	97	Per-artery analysis—end-systolic trigger
Budoff <sup>161</sup>	EBCT	86	5	90	93	96	Per-artery analysis, 1.5-mm collimation
Reports using 4-slice CT							
Nieman <sup>165</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	31	27	81	97	97	Per-segment analysis, proximal and mid segments
Achenbach <sup>166</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	64	32	91	84	98	Per-artery analysis, all segments $>$ 2.0 mm
Knez <sup>167</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	42	6	78	98	97	Per-artery analysis, proximal and mid segments
Vogl <sup>168</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	64	•••	75	99	•••	Per-segment analysis, 15 segments
Kopp <sup>169</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	102	15	86–93	96–97	98–99	Per-segment analysis, 10 segments
Nieman <sup>170</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	53	30	82	93	97	Per-segment analysis, all segments >2.0 mm
Becker <sup>171</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	28	11	78	71	97	Per-segment analysis, 7 segments
Morgan-Hughes <sup>172</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	30	32	72	86	93	Per-segment analysis, proximal and mid segments
Sato <sup>173</sup>	4-Slice MDCT	54	5	94	97	97	Per-artery analysis, all segments >2.0 mm
Reports using 8-slice CT							
Maruyama <sup>174</sup>	8-Slice MDCT	25	26	73	73	96	Per-segment analysis, all segments
Reports using 16-slice CT							
Nieman <sup>175</sup>	16-Slice CT	59	7	95	86	97	Per-artery analysis, all segments $>$ 2.0 mm
Ropers <sup>176</sup>	16-Slice CT	77	12	93	92	97	Per-artery analysis, all segments $>$ 1.5 mm
Kuettner <sup>177</sup>	16-Slice CT	58		72–98	97–98	97–100	Per-segment analysis, all of 13 segments (in patients with Agatston score $<$ 1000)
Mollet <sup>178</sup>	16-Slice CT	128	•••	92	95	98	Per-segment analysis, all segments >2.0 mm
Martuscelli <sup>179</sup>	16-Slice CT	64	16	89	98	98	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Hoffmann <sup>180</sup>	16-Slice CT	33		63–89	95–96	96–97	Per-segment analysis, all of 17 segments (proximal and mid segments)
Kuettner <sup>181</sup>	16-Slice CT	72	7	82	98	97	Per-segment analysis, all of 13 segments
Mollet <sup>182</sup>	16-Slice CT	51		95	98	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Schuijf <sup>183</sup>	16-Slice CT	45	6	98	97	100	Per-segment analysis, all segments
Morgan-Hughes <sup>184</sup>	16-Slice CT	58	2–37	83–89	97–98	97–99	Per-segment analysis, all of 15 segments (in patients with Agatston score <400)
Hoffmann <sup>185</sup>	16-Slice CT	103	6	95	98	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Achenbach <sup>189</sup>	16-Slice CT	50	4	94	96	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Aviram <sup>188</sup>	16-Slice CT	22		86	98	98	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Kaiser <sup>187</sup>	16-Slice CT	149	23	30	91	83	Per-artery analysis, all segments
Fine <sup>186</sup>	16-Slice CT	50	2	87	97	98	Per-artery analysis, all segments $>$ 1.5 mm
Reports using 64-slice CT							
Leschka <sup>12</sup>	64-Slice CT	67		94	97	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments >1.5 mm
Raff <sup>80</sup>	64-Slice CT	70	12	86	95	98	Per-segment analysis, all segments
Leber <sup>190</sup>	64-Slice CT	59		73–88	97	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments
Mollet <sup>191</sup>	64-Slice CT	52	2	99	95	99	Per-segment analysis, all segments
Ropers <sup>192</sup>	64-Slice CT	82	4	95	93	99	Per-artery analysis, all segments $>1.5$ mm
Fine <sup>193</sup>	64-Slice CT	66	6	95	96	95	Per-artery analysis, all arteries >1.5 mm
Available meta-analysis							
Schuijf <sup>198</sup>	4-Slice CT	569	22	80	94		Per-segment analysis
-	8-Slice CT	50	21	80	98		-
	16-Slice CT	681	4	88	96		
	64-Slice CT	396	4	92	95		
Stein <sup>199</sup>	4-Slice CT	89	5–18	95	84		Per-patient (blinded) analysis
	16-Slice CT	448	0–21	95	84		
	64-Slice CT	67	0	100	100		

coronary artery (16-slice=91%, 64-slice=93%), and left circumflex coronary arteries (16-slice=82%, 64-slice=94%). Diagnostic specificity values were similar across the arteries but higher for 64-slice (range=92% to 100%) as compared with 16-slice CT (84% to 100%).

# **3.4.** CT Angiography Applications in a Clinical Context

## 3.4.1. Suspected CAD

The studies that have evaluated the accuracy of EBCT and MDCT "coronary angiography" for the assessment of coronary artery stenoses have been relatively small (up to 149 individuals). They recruited somewhat selected patients (eg, excluding patients with acute coronary syndromes or atrial fibrillation), and all studies have been validated against invasive coronary angiography as a gold standard. No outcomes-based analyses that made further clinical management dependent on the EBCT or MDCT result have been published. However, all studies have convincingly demonstrated a very high negative predictive value of CT coronary angiography (see Table 8). Thus, a "normal" CT coronary angiogram allows the clinician to rule out the presence of hemodynamically relevant coronary artery stenoses with a high degree of reliability. When considering whether to refer a patient for EBCT or MDCT, clinicians must weigh the relative advantages of other testing methods such as exercise testing or stress imaging. The choice of testing will be determined by both local expertise in a given hospital as well as by the patient's specific clinical history. Functional information demonstrating the physiological significance of coronary lesions is still paramount for decision-making related to revascularization.

In a clinical context, the high negative predictive value may be useful for obviating the need for invasive coronary angiography in patients whose symptoms or abnormal stress test results make it necessary to rule out the presence of coronary artery stenoses. Especially if symptoms, age, and gender suggest a low to intermediate probability of hemodynamically relevant stenoses,<sup>200</sup> ruling out hemodynamically relevant stenoses by CT coronary angiography may be clinically useful and may help avoid invasive angiography. CT coronary angiography is reasonable for the assessment of obstructive disease in symptomatic patients (**Class IIa, Level of Evidence: B**).

Use of CT angiography in asymptomatic persons as a screening test for atherosclerosis (noncalcific plaque) is not recommended (Class III, Level of Evidence: C).

## 3.4.2. Follow-Up of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention

Several smaller studies have assessed the value of EBCT and MDCT to detect restenosis after stent placement. With EBCT, 4-detector MDCT, and 16-detector MDCT, artifacts caused by the stent material prevented, in many cases, adequate visualization of the coronary lumen within the stent. Thus, in-stent restenosis could not be reliably detected in most cases.<sup>201–206</sup> The ability to visualize in-stent restenosis depends on stent design and material, stent size, and scanner technology.<sup>207–209</sup> Thus, further studies may prove that a certain combination of stent type and scanner technology may

permit the detection of in-stent restenosis. In a first study performed by 64-slice CT, sensitivity for detection of in-stent restenosis was 83%, but only 8 stenoses were present in the overall study group.<sup>210</sup> Thus, based on current data, imaging of patients to follow up stent placement cannot be recommended (**Class III, Level of Evidence: C**).

## 3.4.3. Follow-Up After Bypass Surgery

Numerous studies have shown that EBCT and MDCT permit assessment of coronary bypass graft occlusion and patency with high accuracy. In most studies, the accuracy to detect bypass occlusion approached 100%.211-226 Clinically, however, it might be reasonable in most cases to not only assess the patency of the bypass graft but also the presence of coronary stenoses in the course of the bypass graft or at the anastomotic site, as well as in the native coronary artery system (Class IIb, Level of Evidence: C). This is more difficult, owing to the smaller caliber of these vessels, the presence of artifacts caused by metal clips, and the often pronounced coronary calcification. Recent data suggest a high sensitivity for both coronary stenosis as well as assessment of bypass patency versus occlusion. A study of 52 patients using 16-detector MDCT demonstrated 99.4% assessibility of grafts, with a sensitivity and specificity of 100% (54/54) for occlusion and 96% sensitivity and 100% specificity for detecting high-grade stenoses in patent grafts.<sup>227</sup> Although more data are necessary, newer scanners may have the spatial resolution to overcome some of the earlier problems with graft assessment.

## 3.4.4. Anomalous Coronary Arteries

The presence of anomalous coronary arteries can be a differential diagnosis in patients with suspected coronary disease, chest pain, or syncope. The detailed assessment of anomalous coronary arteries concerning their origin and course can be difficult with invasive coronary angiography. The 3-dimensional nature of CT coronary angiography datasets allows for an exact analysis of anomalous coronary arteries. Both for EBCT and MDCT, numerous case reports suggest and several authors have investigated series of patients and could demonstrate that the analysis of coronary anomalies is straightforward and exact.<sup>228-233</sup> As opposed to magnetic resonance imaging, which also permits the analysis of coronary anomalies in tomographic images, CT requires radiation and a contrast agent. However, the high resolution of the datasets (permitting analysis even of small details) and the speed of image acquisition make it reasonable to use CT as one of the first-choice imaging modalities in the workup of known and suspected coronary anomalies (Class IIa, Level of Evidence: C).

## **3.5.** Assessment of NCP

In addition to identifying lesions with significant luminal narrowing, there is also interest in visualizing and characterizing coronary artery plaques beyond the mere assessment of calcium. Some plaques may be at increased risk for erosion or rupture even when such lesions are not associated with a significant degree of luminal stenosis. These so-called unstable plaques are thought to play a role in the development of acute coronary ischemic events. It has been observed that unstable plaques are generally higher in lipid content, and the use of cross-sectional imaging may be helpful in characterizing plaque composition.

Coronary angiography has traditionally served as the principal imaging modality to evaluate CAD. However, both necropsy and coronary intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) studies have consistently shown that angiographically "normal" coronary artery segments may contain a significant amount of atherosclerotic plaque and that coronary angiography consistently underestimates the amount of coronary atherosclerosis.<sup>234,235</sup> Furthermore, previous angiographic studies have shown that most MIs result from the rupture of a vulnerable plaque in the absence of a significant luminal stenosis. These rupture-prone plaques, which are 7 times more likely to cause disruption than the more severe, extensive plaques, are not visible on 2-dimensional x-ray angiography.<sup>236,237</sup>

Improved spatial and temporal image acquisition with submillimeter slice collimation has facilitated atherosclerotic plaque detection with MDCT. Plaque with density below the vessel contrast is defined as noncalcified plaque. Conversely, structures with densities above the adjacent vessel lumen are considered calcified.<sup>238</sup> Some studies have defined 3 levels of plaque: "soft" plaque, presumably lipid laden with lower densities, intermediate or presumably fibrous plaques, and calcific or high-density plaques.

Recent contrast-enhanced MDCT studies have shown that noninvasive scanning permits accurate detection and differentiation of coronary plaque when compared with IVUS. There have been 6 main studies reported comparing CT technology with IVUS in the detection of lipid-rich and fibrous atheroma, with both MDCT (4 studies) and EBCT (2 studies).<sup>239–243</sup>

Sensitivities for NCP (hypoechoic, lipid-rich) detection by MDCT ranged from 53% to 92%, with the sample size ranging from 14 to 37 patients. In one of the more robust MDCT studies, which evaluated 875 segments, sensitivity for hypoechoic, hyperechoic, and calcific plaques was 78%, 78%, and 95%, respectively. Specificity was a respectable 92%.<sup>239</sup> As expected, the sensitivities for detecting calcific atheroma were relatively higher than for noncalcific plaque in these studies: approximately 88% to 95%. Although the sample sizes are relatively small, they do demonstrate diag-

nostic accuracy in characterizing noncalcific atheroma, with some difficulty differentiating lipid-laden and fibrous components.

Quantification of coronary atherosclerotic plaque burden by CT technology is currently unsatisfactory.<sup>244</sup> In the study by Achenbach et al,<sup>239</sup> MDCT substantially underestimated plaque volume per segment as compared with IVUS ( $24\pm35$  mm<sup>3</sup> versus  $43\pm60$  mm<sup>3</sup>, P<0.001).

In another comparison between MDCT and IVUS, plaque areas showed moderate correlation (r=0.55) between the 2 methods, with a significant tendency toward overestimation by MDCT ( $8.3\pm4.8$  mm<sup>3</sup> versus  $7.3\pm3.1$  mm<sup>3</sup>, P<0.001).<sup>245</sup> The limitations of NCP detection may be much more significant than a limited sensitivity or underestimation of plaque burden. The reproducibility of the measure has not been reported. There is no prognostic information to determine whether NCP adds any information on top of risk factors, angiographic disease severity, or calcified plaque, and it is not recommended (**Class III, Level of Evidence: C**). Finally, this procedure requires both contrast administration and radiation exposure, and the risks may outweigh the benefit in individual patients. All of this will need to be studied before NCP detection by CT becomes a clinical tool.

### Conclusion

EBCT has undergone a 20-year period of testing for reliability and validity and is now established as a useful technique in identifying individuals with or at risk for CHD. MDCT is a promising tool for coronary calcium scoring while additional studies evaluating progression, reproducibility, and outcomes are currently under way. Radiation doses, reproducibility, and validation studies must be taken into account when choosing a cardiac CT study. Serial coronary calcium scans to noninvasively assess progression rates of coronary calcium and CT angiography to assess NCP are now starting to be reported, but the data are premature at this time. The most promising use of these technologies is calcium scoring for risk assessment of the asymptomatic individual, whereby elevated calcium scores may trigger more vigorous application of both lifestyle and/or pharmacological therapies targeted to lower cardiovascular risk and CT angiography to rule out the presence of coronary stenoses in certain subsets of symptomatic patients.

## **Disclosures**

#### Writing Group Disclosures

Writing Group Member	g Group er Employment Resear		Other Research Support	Speakers' Bureau/Honoraria	Ownership Interest	Consultant/Advisory Board	Other
Matthew J. Budoff	Harbor-UCLA Medical Center	None	None	General Electric	None	None	None
Stephan Achenbach	University of Erlangen, Germany	Siemens	None	None	None	None	None
Roger S. Blumenthal	Johns Hopkins Hospital	Merck, Pfizer, Wyeth, AstraZeneca, KOS	None	Merck, Pfizer, Wyeth, AstraZeneca, KOS	None	None	None
J. Jeffrey Carr	Wake Forest University	None	None	None	None	None	None
Jonathan G. Goldin	UCLA	<ol> <li>Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) NIH: N01-HC-95160. Role: Co-Principal Investigator</li> <li>Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) Family Study NIH: 1 R01-HL-071051. Role: Investigator</li> </ol>	None	None	None	Siemens Medical Systems Role: Advisory Board	None
Philip Greenland	Northwestern University	None	None	None	None	None	None
Alan D. Guerci	St. Francis Hospital	None	None	None	None	None	None
Joao A.C. Lima	Johns Hopkins Hospital	Toshiba, Merck	None	Novartis, Toshiba, General Electric	None	General Electric N	
Daniel J. Rader	University of Pennsylvania	None	None	None	None	None	None
Geoffrey D. Rubin	Stanford University	None	None	None	None	None	None
Leslee J. Shaw	Cedars-Sinai Medical Center	General Electric (on pharmaceutical side, not CT)	None	None	None	None	None
Susan E. Wiegers	University of Pennsylvania	None	None	None	None	None	None

This table represents the relationships of writing group members that may be perceived as actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest as reported on the Disclosure Questionnaire, which all members of the writing group are required to complete and submit.

#### **Reviewer Disclosures**

Reviewer	Employment	Research Grant	Other Research Support	Speakers' Bureau/Honoraria	Ownership Interest	Consultant/Advisory Board	Other
Kenneth L. Baughman	Brigham and Women's Hospital	None	None	None	None	None	None
Melvin Clouse	Harvard Medical Faculty Physicians—Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital	Core 64 Sponsor-Toshiba	National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute	Spiral CT conferences in SnowMass, Colo, and Orlando, Fla	None	None	None
Gregg C. Fonarow	University of California, Los Angeles	GlaxoSmithKline, Medtronic, Johnson&Johnson	Pfizer	Pfizer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck, Schering-Plough, KOS, GlaxoSmithKline, Medtronic, Johnson&Johnson	None	Pfizer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck, Schering-Plough, GlaxoSmithKline, Johnson&Johnson, Guidant	None
Harvey Hecht	Lenox Hill Hospital	Philips	None	None	None	None	None
Thomas Lee	Partners Healthcare System	None	None	None	None	None	None

This table represents the relationships of reviewers that may be perceived as actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest as reported on the Disclosure Questionnaire, which all reviewers are required to complete and submit.

### References

- Greenland P, LaBree L, Azen SP, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Coronary artery calcium score combined with Framingham score for risk prediction in asymptomatic individuals. *JAMA*. 2004;291:210–215.
- Smith SC, Greenland P, Grundy SM. AHA conference proceedings. Prevention Conference V: beyond secondary prevention: identifying the high-risk patient for primary prevention. Executive summary. *Circulation.* 2000;101:111–116.
- 3. National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. *Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Final Report.* NIH

Publication No. 02-5215. Washington DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2002.

- O'Rourke RA, Brundage BH, Froelicher VF, Greenland P, Grundy SM, Hachamovitch R, Pohost GM, Shaw LJ, Weintraub WS, Winters WL Jr. American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association expert consensus document on electron-beam computed tomography for the diagnosis and prognosis of coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 2000; 102:126–140.
- Mieres JH, Shaw LJ, Arai A, Budoff MJ, Flamm SD, Hundley WG, Marwick TH, Mosca L, Patel AR, Quinones MA, Redberg RF, Taubert KA, Taylor AJ, Thomas GS, Wenger NK; Cardiac Imaging Committee, Council on Clinical Cardiology, and the Cardiovascular Imaging and

Intervention Committee, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, American Heart Association. Role of noninvasive testing in the clinical evaluation of women with suspected coronary artery disease: consensus statement from the Cardiac Imaging Committee, Council on Clinical Cardiology, and the Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention Committee, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2005;111: 682–696.

- Berman DS, Wong ND, Gransar H, Miranda-Peats R, Dahlbeck J, Hayes SW, Friedman JD, Kang X, Polk D, Hachamovitch R, Shaw L, Rozanski A. Relationship between stress-induced myocardial ischemia and atherosclerosis measured by coronary calcium tomography. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;44:923–930.
- Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Bax JJ, Brown KA, Cohen MC, Hendel RC, Mahmarian JJ, Williams KA, Ziffer JA. Computed tomographic imaging within nuclear cardiology [information statement]. J Nucl Cardiol. 2005;12:131–142.
- 8. Brindis RG, Douglas PS, Hendel RC, Peterson ED, Wolk MJ, Allen JM, Patel MR, Raskin IE, Bateman TM, Cerqueira MD, Gibbons RJ, Gillam LD, Gillespie JA, Iskandrian AE, Jerome SD, Krumholz HM, Messer JV, Spertus JA, Stowers SA; American College of Cardiology Foundation Quality Strategic Directions Committee Appropriateness Criteria Working Group; American Society of Nuclear Cardiology; American Heart Association. ACCF/ASNC appropriateness criteria for single-photon emission computed tomography myocardial perfusion imaging (SPECT MPI): a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Quality Strategic Directions Committee Appropriateness Criteria Working Group and the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, endorsed by the American Heart Association [published correction appears in J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46:1587–1605.
- 9. Morin RL, Gerber TC, McCollough CH. Radiation dose in computed tomography of the heart. *Circulation*. 2003;107:917–922.
- Hunold P, Vogt FM, Schmermund A, Debatin JF, Kerkhoff G, Budde T, Erbel R, Ewen K, Barkhausen J. Radiation exposure during cardiac CT: effective doses at multi-detector row CT and electron-beam CT. *Radiology*. 2003;226:145–152.
- Nasir K, Budoff MJ, Post WS, Fishman EK, Mahesh M, Lima JA, Blumenthal RS. Electron beam CT versus helical CT scans of coronary arteries: current utility and future directions. *Am Heart J.* 2003;146: 949–977.
- Leschka S, Alkadhi H, Plass A, Desbiolles L, Grunenfelder J, Marincek B, Wildermuth S. Accuracy of MSCT coronary angiography with 64-slice technology: first experience. *Eur Heart J*. 2005;26:1482–1487.
- 13. Budoff MJ, Cohen MC, Garcia M, Hodgson JMcB, Hundley WG, Lima JA, Manning WJ, Pohost GM, Raggi PM, Rodgers GP, Rumberger JA, Taylor AJ, Creager MA, Hirshfeld JW Jr, Lorell BH, Merli G, Rodgers GP, Tracy CM, Weitz HH; American College of Cardiology Foundation; American Heart Association; American College of Physicians Task Force on Clinical Competence and Training; American Society of Echocardiography; American Society of Nuclear Cardiology; Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging; Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. ACCF/AHA clinical competence statement on cardiac imaging with computed tomography and magnetic resonance: a report of the American College of Physicians Task Force on Clinical Competence and Training. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46:383–402.
- Wexler L, Brundage B, Crouse J, Detrano R, Fuster V, Maddahi J, Rumberger J, Stanford W, White R, Taubert K. Coronary artery calcification: pathophysiology, epidemiology, imaging methods, and clinical implications: a statement for health professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 1996;94:1175–1192.
- Bostrom K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest. 1993;91:1800–1809.
- Hirota S, Imakita M, Kohri K, Ito A, Morii E, Adachi S, Kim HM, Kitamura Y, Yutani C, Nomura S. Expression of osteopontin messenger RNA by macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques: a possible association with calcification. *Am J Pathol.* 1993;143:1003–1008.
- Shanahan CM, Cary NR, Metcalfe JC, Weissberg PL. High expression of genes for calcification-regulating proteins in human atherosclerotic plaque. J Clin Invest. 1994;93:2393–2402.
- Faber A. Die Arteriosklerose. In: Aschoff L, et al, eds. *Pathologische* Anatomie; ein lehrbuch f
  ür studierende und 
  ärzte. Jena, Germany: G. Fischer; 1912:49–56.

- Blankenhorn DH, Stern D. Calcification of the coronary arteries. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1959;81:772–777.
- US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Coronary Heart Disease. Available at: http://www.ahcpr.gov/clinic/uspstf/uspsacad.htm. Accessed July 20, 2006.
- Budoff MJ, Georgiou D, Brody A, Agatston AS, Kennedy J, Wolfkiel C, Stanford W, Shields P, Lewis RJ, Janowitz WR, Rich S, Brundage BH. Ultrafast computed tomography as a diagnostic modality in the detection of coronary artery disease: a multicenter study. *Circulation*. 1996;93: 898–904.
- Budoff MJ, Diamond GA, Raggi P, Arad Y, Guerci AD, Callister TQ, Berman D. Continuous probabilistic prediction of angiographically significant coronary artery disease using electron beam tomography. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1791–1796.
- 23. Haberl R, Becker A, Leber A, Knez A, Becker C, Lang C, Bruning R, Reiser M, Steinbeck G. Correlation of coronary calcification and angiographically documented stenoses in patients with suspected coronary artery disease: results of 1,764 patients. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2001;37: 451–457.
- Hoff JA, Chomka EV, Krainik AJ, Daviglus M, Rich S, Kondos GT. Age and gender distributions of coronary artery calcium detected by electron beam tomography in 35,246 adults. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;87: 1335–1339.
- Uretsky B, Rifkin R, Sharma S, Reddy PS. Value of fluoroscopy in the detection of coronary stenosis: influence of age, sex, and number of vessels calcified on diagnostic efficacy. Am Heart J. 1988;115:323–333.
- 26. Sangiorgi G, Rumberger JA, Severson A, Edwards WD, Gregoire J, Fitzpatrick LA, Schwartz RS. Arterial calcification and not lumen stenosis is highly correlated with atherosclerotic plaque burden in humans: a histologic study of 723 coronary artery segments using nondecalcifying methodology. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;31:126–133.
- Simons DB, Schwartz RS, Edwards WD, Sheedy PF, Breen JF, Rumberger JA. Noninvasive definition of anatomic coronary artery disease by ultrafast computed tomographic scanning: a quantitative pathologic comparison study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1992;20:1118–1126.
- Rumberger JA, Schwartz RS, Simons DB, Sheedy PF 3rd, Edwards WD, Fitzpatrick LA. Relation of coronary calcium determined by electron beam computed tomography and lumen narrowing determined by autopsy. *Am J Cardiol.* 1994;73:1169–1173.
- Rumberger JA, Simons DB, Fitzpatrick LA, Sheedy PF, Schwartz RS. Coronary artery calcium area by electron-beam computed tomography and coronary atherosclerotic plaque area: a histopathologic correlative study. *Circulation*. 1995;92:2157–2162.
- 30. Baumgart D, Schmermund A, Goerge G, Haude M, Ge J, Adamzik M, Sehnert C, Altmaier K, Groenemeyer D, Seibel R, Erbel R. Comparison of electron beam computed tomography with intracoronary ultrasound and coronary angiography for detection of coronary atherosclerosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1997;30:57–64.
- 31. Schmermund A, Baumgart D, Gorge G, Seibel R, Gronemeyer D, Ge J, Haude M, Rumberger J, Erbel R. Coronary artery calcium in acute coronary syndromes: a comparative study of electron-beam computed tomography, coronary angiography, and intracoronary ultrasound in survivors of acute myocardial infarction and unstable angina. *Circulation*. 1997;96:1461–1469.
- Janowitz WR, Agatston AS, Kaplan G, Viamonte M Jr. Differences in prevalence and extent of coronary artery calcium detected by ultrafast computed tomography in asymptomatic men and women. *Am J Cardiol.* 1993;72:247–254.
- 33. Rumberger JA, Sheedy PF, Breen JF. Use of ultrafast (cine) x-ray computed tomography in cardiac and cardiovascular imaging. In: Giuliani ER, Gersh BJ, McGoon MD, Hayes DL, Schaff HF, eds. *Mayo Clinic Practice of Cardiology*. 3rd ed. St. Louis, Mo: Mosby; 1996: 303–324.
- Bell MR, Lerman LO, Rumberger JA. Validation of minimally invasive measurement of myocardial perfusion using electron beam computed tomography and application in human volunteers. *Heart*. 1999;81: 628–635.
- Budoff MJ, Shinbane JS, Oudiz RJ, Child J, Carson S, Chau A, Tseng P, Gao Y, Mao S. Comparison of coronary artery calcium screening image quality between C-150 and e-Speed electron beam scanners. *Acad Radiol.* 2005;12:309–312.
- Rumberger JA, Brundage BH, Rader DJ, Kondos G. Electron beam computed tomographic coronary calcium scanning: a review and guidelines for use in asymptomatic individuals [published correction in *Mayo Clinic Proc.* 1999;74:538]. *Mayo Clinic Proc.* 1999;74:243–252.

- Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, Zusmer NR, Viamonte M Jr, Detrano R. Quantification of coronary artery calcium using ultrafast computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1990;15:827–832.
- Mao S, Lu B, Oudiz RJ, Bakhsheshi H, Liu SC, Budoff MJ. Coronary artery motion in electron beam tomography. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2000;24:253–258.
- Mao SS, Bakhsheshi H, Lu B, Liu SC, Oudiz RJ, Budoff MJ. Effect of electrocardiogram triggering on reproducibility of coronary artery calcium scoring. *Radiology*. 2001;220:707–711.
- 40. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W Jr, Josenfeld ME, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD, Wissler RW. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis: a report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1355–1374.
- Callister TQ, Cooil B, Raya SP, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ, Raggi P. Coronary artery disease: improved reproducibility of calcium scoring with electron-beam CT volumetric method. *Radiology*. 1998;208: 807–814.
- Ferencik M, Ferullo A, Achenbach S, Abbara S, Chan RC, Booth SL, Brady TJ, Hoffmann U. Coronary calcium quantification using various calibration phantoms and scoring thresholds. *Invest Radiol.* 2003;38: 559–566.
- Hong C, Becker CR, Schoepf UJ, Ohnesorge B, Bruening R, Reiser MF. Coronary artery calcium: absolute quantification in nonenhanced and contrast-enhanced multi-detector row CT studies. *Radiology*. 2002;223: 474–480.
- Rumberger JA, Kaufman L. A rosetta stone for coronary calcium risk stratification: agatston, volume and mass scores in 11,490 individuals. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. 2003;181:743–748.
- Ritchie CJ, Godwin JD, Crawford CR, Stanford W, Anno H, Kim Y. Minimum scan speeds for suppression of motion artifacts in CT. *Radiology*. 1992;185:37–42.
- Becker CR, Kleffel T, Crispin A, Knez A, Young J, Schoepf UJ, Haberl R, Reiser MF. Coronary artery calcium measurement: agreement of multirow detector and electron beam CT. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2001; 176:1295–1298.
- 47. Knez A, Becker CR, Becker A, Leber A, White C, Reiser M, Steinbeck G. Determination of coronary calcium with multi-slice spiral computed tomography: a comparative study with electron-beam CT. *Int J Car-diovasc Imaging*. 2002;18:295–303.
- Budoff MJ, Mao S, Zalace CP, Bakhsheshi H, Oudiz RJ. Comparison of spiral and electron beam tomography in the evaluation of coronary calcification in asymptomatic persons. *Int J Cardiol*. 2001;77:181–188.
- Carr JJ, Crouse JR, D'Agostino RB, Peterson NP, Burke GL. Evaluation of a subsecond gated helical CT for quantification of coronary artery calcium and comparison with electron beam CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2000;174:915–921.
- Bild DE, Bluemke DA, Burke GL, Detrano R, Diez Roux AV, Folsom AR, Greenland P, Jacob DR Jr, Kronmal R, Liu K, Nelson JC, O'Leary D, Saad MF, Shea S, Szklo M, Tracy RP. Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis: objectives and design. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2002;156:871–881.
- 51. Schmermund A, Mohlenkamp S, Stang A, et al. Assessment of clinically silent atherosclerotic disease and established and novel risk factors for predicting myocardial infarction and cardiac death in healthy middle-aged subjects: rationale and design of the Heinz Nixdorf RECALL Study: risk factors, evaluation of coronary calcium and lifestyle. *Am Heart J.* 2002;144:212–218.
- Budoff MJ, Raggi P. Coronary artery disease progression assessed by electron-beam computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;88(2A): 46E–50E.
- Mao S, Budoff MJ, Bin L, Liu SC. Optimal ECG trigger point in electron-beam volumetric studies: three methods for minimizing motion artifacts. *Acad Rad.* 2001;8:1107–1115.
- Lu B, Mao SS, Zhuang N, Baksheshi H, Yamamoto H, Takasu J, Liu SC, Budoff MJ. Coronary artery motion during the cardiac cycle and optimal ECG triggering for coronary artery imaging. *Invest Radiol.* 2001;36:250–256.
- Callister TQ, Cooil B, Raya SP, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ, Raggi P. Coronary artery disease: improved reproducibility of calcium scoring with electron-beam CT volumetric method. *Radiology*. 1998;208: 807–814.
- Mao SS, Budoff MJ, Bakhsheshi H, Liu SCK. Improved reproducibility of coronary artery calcium scoring by electron beam tomography with a new ECG trigger method. *Invest Radiol.* 2001;36:363–367.

- Lu B, Zhuang N, Mao SS, Child J, Carson S, Bakhsheshi H, Budoff MJ. EKG-triggered CT data acquisition to reduce variability in coronary arterial calcium score. *Radiology*. 2002;224:838–844.
- Bielak LF, Sheedy PF, Peyser PA. Coronary artery calcification measured at electron-beam CT: agreement in dual scan runs and change over time. *Radiology*. 2001;218:224–229.
- Achenbach S, Ropers D, Mohlenkamp S, Schmermund A, Muschiol G, Groth J, Kusus M, Regenfus M, Daniel WG, Erbel R, Moshage W. Variability of repeated coronary calcium measurements by electron beam tomography. *Am J Cardiol*. 2001;87:210–213,A8.
- 60. Shemesh J, Tenenbaum A, Kopecky KK, Apter S, Rozenman J, Itzchak Y, Motro M. Coronary calcium measurements by double helical computed tomography: using the average instead of peak density algorithm improves reproducibility. *Invest Radiol.* 1997;32:503–506.
- Qanadli SD, Mesurolle B, Aegerter P, Joseph T, Oliva VL, Guertin MC, Dubourq O, Fauchet M, Goeau-Brissonniere OA, Lacombe P. Volumetric quantification of coronary artery calcifications using dual-slice spiral CT scanner: improved reproducibility of measurements with 180 degrees linear interpolation algorithm. *J Comput Assist Tomogr*. 2001; 25:278–286.
- Mahnken AH, Wildberger JE, Sinha AM, Flohr T, Truong HT, Krombach GA, Gunther RW. Variation of the coronary calcium score depending on image reconstruction interval and scoring algorithm. *Invest Radiol.* 2002;37:496–502.
- Daniell AL, Wong ND, Friedman JD, et al. Reproducibility of coronary calcium measurements from multidetector computed tomography. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2003;41(suppl A):456–457.
- Hong C, Bae KT, Pilgram TK. Coronary artery calcium: accuracy and reproducibility of measurements with multi-detector row CT-assessment of effects of different thresholds and quantification methods. *Radiology*. 2003;227:795–801.
- 65. Van Hoe LR, De Meerleer KG, Leyman PP, Vanhoenacker PK. Coronary artery calcium scoring using ECG-gated multidetector CT: effect of individually optimized image-reconstruction windows on image quality and measurement reproducibility. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181:1093–1100.
- Takahashi N, Bae KT. Quantification of coronary artery calcium with multi-detector row CT: assessing interscan variability with different tube currents pilot study. *Radiology*. 2003;228:101–106.
- 67. Carr JJ, Nelson JC, Wong ND, McNitt-Gray M, Arad Y, Jacobs DR Jr, Sidney S, Bild DE, Williams OD, Detrano RC. Calcified coronary artery plaque measurement with cardiac CT in population-based studies: standardized protocol of Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) and Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study. *Radiology*. 2005;234:35–43.
- Detrano RC, Anderson M, Nelson J, Wong ND, Carr JJ, McNitt-Gray M, Bild DE. Coronary calcium measurements: effect of CT scanner type and calcium measure on rescan reproducibility–MESA study. *Radiology*. 2005;236:477–484.
- Ohnesorge B, Flohr T, Fischbach R, Kopp AF, Knez A, Schroder S, Schopf UJ, Drispin A, Lotz E, Reiser MF, Becker CR. Reproducibility of coronary calcium quantification in repeat examinations with retrospectively ECG-gated multisection spiral CT. *Eur Radiol.* 2002;12: 1532–1540.
- Schlosser T, Hunold P, Schmermund A, Kuhl H, Waltering KU, Debatin JF, Barkhausen J. Coronary artery calcium score: influence of reconstruction interval at 16-detector row CT with retrospective electrocardiographic gating. *Radiology*. 2004;233:586–589.
- Achenbach S, Daniel WG, Moshage W. Recommendations for standardization of EBT and MSCT scanning. *Herz*. 2001;26:273–277.
- 72. US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Whole body scanning using computed tomography (CT): what are the radiation risks from CT? Available at: http://www.fda.gov/cdrh/ ct/risks.html. Accessed July 20, 2006.
- Cohnen M, Poll L, Puttmann C, Ewen K, Modder U. Radiation exposure in multi-slice CT of the heart [published correction in *Rofo*. 2001; 173:521]. *Rofo*. 2001;178:295–299.
- Thomton FJ, Paulson EK, Yoshizumi TT, Frush DP, Nelson RC. Single versus multi-detector row CT: comparison of radiation doses and dose profiles. *Acad Radiol.* 2003;10:379–385.
- Mahnken AH, Wildberger JE, Simon J, Koos R, Flohr TG, Schaller S, Gunther RW. Detection of coronary calcifications: feasibility of dose reduction with a body weight-adapted examination protocol. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2003;181:533–538.

- Budoff MJ, Achenbach S, Duerinckx A. Clinical utility of computed tomography and magnetic resonance techniques for noninvasive coronary angiography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;42:1867–1878.
- Flohr TG, Schoepf UJ, Kuettner A, Halliburton S, Bruder H, Suess C, Schmidt B, Hofmann L, Yucel EK, Schaller S, Ohnesorge BM. Advances in cardiac imaging with 16-section CT systems. *Acad Radiol.* 2003;10:386–401.
- Trabold T, Buchgeister M, Kuttner A, Heuschmid M, Kopp AF, Schroder S, Claussen CD. Estimation of radiation exposure in 16-detector row computed tomography of the heart with retrospective ECG-gating. *Rofo.* 2003;175:1051–1055.
- Bae KT, Hong C, Whiting BR. Radiation dose in multidetector row computed tomography cardiac imaging. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2004; 19:859–863.
- Raff GL, Gallagher MJ, O'Neill WW, Goldstein JA. Diagnostic accuracy of noninvasive coronary angiography using 64-slice spiral computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46:552–557.
- Gomez-Palacios M, Terron JA, Dominguez P, Vera DR, Osuna RF. Radiation doses in the surroundings of patients undergoing nuclear medicine diagnostic studies. *Health Phys.* 2005;89(2 suppl):S27–S34.
- Picano E. Economic and biological costs of cardiac imaging. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2005;3:13.
- Poll LW, Cohnen M, Brachten S, Ewen K, Modder U. Dose reduction in multi-slice CT of the heart by use of ECG-controlled tube current modulation ("ECG pulsing"): phantom measurements. *Rofo.* 2002;174: 1500–1505.
- Jakobs TF, Becker CR, Ohnesorge B, Flohr T, Suess C, Schoepf UJ, Reiser MF. Multislice helical CT of the heart with retrospective ECG gating: reduction of radiation exposure by ECG-controlled tube current modulation. *Eur Radiol.* 2002;12:1081–1086.
- Fleischmann KE, Hunink MG, Kuntz KM, Douglas PS. Exercise echocardiography or exercise SPECT imaging? A meta-analysis of diagnostic test performance. J Nucl Cardiol. 2002;9:133–134.
- 86. Klocke FJ, Baird MG, Lorell BH, Bateman TM, Messer JV, Berman DS, O'Gara PT, Carabello BA, Russell RO Jr, Cerqueira MD, St John Sutton MG, DeMaria AN, Udelson JE, Kennedy JW, Verani MS, Williams KA, Antman EM, Smith SC Jr, Alpert JS, Gregoratos G, Anderson JL, Hiratzka LF, Faxon DP, Hunt SA, Fuster V, Jacobs AK, Gibbons RJ, Russell RO; American College of Cardiology; American Heart Association; American Society for Nuclear Cardiology. ACC/AHA/ASNC guidelines for the clinical use of cardiac radionuclide imaging–executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (ACC/ AHA/ASNC Committee to Revise the 1995 Guidelines for the Clinical Use of Cardiac Radionuclide Imaging). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;42: 1318–1333.
- 87. Schmermund A, Denktas AE, Rumberger JA, Christian TF, Sheedy PF 2nd, Bailey KR, Schwartz RS. Independent and incremental value of coronary artery calcium for predicting the extent of angiographic coronary artery disease: comparison with cardiac risk factors and radionuclide perfusion imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;34:777–786.
- Shavelle DM, Budoff MJ, Lamont DH, Shavelle RM, Kennedy JM, Brundage BH. Exercise testing and electron beam computed tomography in the evaluation of coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36:32–38.
- Knez A, Becker A, Leber A, White C, Becker CR, Reiser MF, Steinbeck G, Boekstegers P. Relation of coronary calcium scores by electron beam tomography to obstructive disease in 2,115 symptomatic patients. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;93:1150–1152.
- Blumenthal RS, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Moy TF, Michos ED, Fishman EK, Becker LC. Comparison of coronary calcium and stress myocardial perfusion imaging in apparently healthy siblings of individuals with premature coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2006;97:328–333.
- Anand DV, Lim E, Hopkins D, Corder R, Shaw LJ, Sharp P, Lipkin D, Lahiri A. Risk stratification in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes: prospective evaluation of the combined use of coronary artery calcium imaging and selective myocardial perfusion scintigraphy. *Eur Heart J*. 2006;27:713–721.
- Shaw LJ, Raggi P, Callister TQ, Berman DS. Prognostic value of coronary artery calcium screening in asymptomatic smokers and nonsmokers. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:968–975.
- Budoff MJ, Shavelle DM, Lamont DH, Kim HT, Akinwale P, Kennedy JM, Brundage BH. Usefulness of electron beam computed tomography scanning for distinguishing ischemic from nonischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;32:1173–1178.

- Shemesh J, Tenenbaum A, Fisman EZ, Har-Zahav Y, Rath S, Apter S, Itzchak Y, Motro M. Coronary calcium as a reliable tool for differentiating ischemic from nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol.* 1996;77:191–194.
- Le T, Ko JY, Kim HT, Akinwale P, Budoff MJ. Comparison of echocardiography and electron beam tomography in differentiating the etiology of heart failure. *Clin Cardiol.* 2000;23:417–420.
- Budoff MJ, Jacob B, Rasouli ML, Yu D, Chang RS, Shavelle DM. Comparison of electron beam computed tomography and technetium stress testing in differentiating cause of dilated versus ischemic cardiomyopathy. *J Comput Assist Tomogr.* 2005;29:699–703.
- Laudon DA, Vukov LF, Breen JF, Rumberger JA, Wollan PC, Sheedy PF 2nd. Use of electron-beam computed tomography in the evaluation of chest pain patients in the emergency department. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1999;33:15–21.
- Georgiou D, Budoff MJ, Kaufer E, Kennedy JM, Lu B, Brundage BH. Screening patients with chest pain in the emergency department using electron beam tomography: a follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;38:105–110.
- McLaughlin VV, Balogh T, Rich S. Utility of electron beam computed tomography to stratify patients presenting to the emergency room with chest pain. *Am J Cardiol*. 1999;84:327–328.
- Shaw LJ, Raggi P, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Cost effectiveness of screening for cardiovascular disease with measures of coronary calcium. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*. 2003;46:171–184.
- 101. Rumberger JA, Behrenbeck T, Breen JF, Sheedy PF 2nd. Coronary calcification by electron beam computed tomography and obstructive coronary artery disease: a model for costs and effectiveness of diagnosis as compared with conventional cardiac testing methods. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;33:453–462.
- Rifkin RD, Parisi AF, Folland E. Coronary calcification in the diagnosis of coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 1979;44:141–147.
- Eggen DA, Strong JP, McGill HC. Coronary calcification: relationship to clinically significant coronary lesions and race, sex and topographic distribution. *Circulation*. 1965;32:948–955.
- 104. Detrano RC, Wong ND, Doherty TM, Shavelle RM, Tang W, Ginzton LE, Budoff MJ, Narahara KA. Coronary calcium does not accurately predict near-term future coronary events in high-risk adults [published correction in *Circulation*. 2000;101:1355]. *Circulation*. 1999;99: 2633–2638.
- 105. Park R, Detrano R, Xiang M, Fu P, Ibrahim Y, LaBree L, Azen S. Combined use of computed tomography coronary calcium scores and C-reactive protein levels in predicting cardiovascular events in nondiabetic individuals. *Circulation*. 2002;106:2073–2077.
- Budoff MJ. Computed tomography. In: Cardiac CT Imaging. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag; 2006.
- Raggi P, Callister TQ, Cooil B, He ZX, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ, Zelinger A, Mahmarian JJ. Identification of patients at increased risk of first unheralded acute myocardial infarction by electron-beam computed tomography. *Circulation*. 2000;101:850–855.
- Raggi P, Cooil B, Callister TQ. Use of electron beam tomography data to develop models for prediction of hard coronary events. *Am Heart J*. 2001;141:375–382.
- Arad Y, Spadaro L, Goodman K, Newstein D, Guerci AD. Prediction of coronary events with electron beam computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36:1253–1260.
- 110. Wong ND, Hsu JC, Detrano RC, Diamond G, Eisenberg H, Gardin JM. Coronary artery calcium evaluation by electron beam computed tomography and its relation to new cardiovascular events. *Am J Cardiol.* 2000;86:495–498.
- 111. Kondos GT, Hoff JA, Sevrukov A, Daviglus ML, Garside DB, Devries SS, Chomka EV, Liu K. Electron-beam tomography coronary artery calcium and cardiac events: a 37-month follow-up of 5635 initially asymptomatic low- to intermediate-risk adults. *Circulation*. 2003;107: 2571–2576.
- Shaw LJ, Raggi P, Schisterman E, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Prognostic value of cardiac risk factors and coronary artery calcium screening for all-cause mortality. *Radiology*. 2003;228:826–833.
- 113. Shemesh J, Morag-Koren N, Goldbourt U, Grossman E, Tenenbaum A, Fisman EZ, Apter S, Itzchak Y, Motro M. Coronary calcium by spiral computed tomography predicts cardiovascular events in high-risk hypertensive patients. J Hypertens. 2004;22:605–610.
- 114. Arad Y, Goodman KJ, Roth M, Newstein D, Guerci AD. Coronary calcification, coronary risk factors, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular

disease events. The St. Francis Heart Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005; 46:158–165.

- 115. Taylor AJ, Bindeman J, Feuerstein I, Cao F, Brazaitis M, O'Malley PG. Coronary calcium independently predicts incident premature coronary heart disease over measured cardiovascular risk factors: mean three-year outcomes in the Prospective Army Coronary Calcium (PACC) project. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46:807–814.
- 116. Vliegenthart R, Oudkerk M, Hofman A, Oei HH, van Dijck W, van Rooij FJ, Witteman JC. Coronary calcification improves cardiovascular risk prediction in the elderly. *Circulation*. 2005;112:572–577.
- 117. LaMonte MJ, FitzGerald SJ, Church TS, Barlow CE, Radford NB, Levine BD, Pippin JJ, Gibbons LW, Blair SN, Nichaman MZ. Coronary artery calcium score and coronary heart disease events in a large cohort of asymptomatic men and women. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2005;162:421–429.
- 118. Becker A, Knez A, Becker C, Leber A, Anthopounou L, Boekstegers P, Steinbeck G. Prediction of serious cardiovascular events by determining coronary artery calcification measured by multi-slice computed tomography [in German]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*. 2005;130: 2433–2438.
- Pletcher MJ, Tice JA, Pignone M, Browner WS. Using the coronary artery calcium score to predict coronary heart disease events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Intern Med.* 2004;164: 1285–1292.
- Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Gender-based differences in the prognostic value of coronary calcification. J Womens Health. 2004;13:273–283.
- 121. Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Prognostic value of coronary artery calcium screening in subjects with and without diabetes. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2004;43:1663–1669.
- 122. Greenland P, Smith SC Jr, Grundy SM. Improving coronary heart disease risk assessment in asymptomatic people: role of traditional risk factors and noninvasive cardiovascular tests. *Circulation*. 2001;104: 1863–1867.
- 123. Detrano R, Hsiai T, Wang S, Puentes G, Fallovollita J, Shields P, Stanford W, Wolfkiel C, Georgiou D, Budoff M, Reed J. Prognostic value of coronary calcification and angiographic stenoses in patients undergoing coronary angiography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;27: 285–290.
- 124. Keelan PC, Bielak LF, Ashai K, Jamjoum LS, Denktas AE, Rumberger JA, Sheedy PF II, Peyser PA, Schwartz RS. Long-term prognostic value of coronary calcification detected by electron-beam computed tomography in patients undergoing coronary angiography. *Circulation*. 2001;104:412–417.
- 125. Mohlenkamp S, Lehmann N, Schmermund A, Pump H, Moebus S, Baumgart D, Seibel R, Gronemeyer DH, Jockel KH, Erbel R. Prognostic value of extensive coronary calcium quantities in symptomatic males: a 5-year follow-up study. *Eur Heart J.* 2003;24:845–854.
- 126. De Backer G, Ambrosioni E, Borch-Johnsen K, Brotons C, Cifkova R, Dallongeville J, Ebrahim S, Faergeman O, Graham I, Mancia G, Manger Cats V, Orth-Gomer K, Perk J, Pyorala K, Rodicio JL, Sans S, Sansoy V, Sechtem U, Silber S, Thomsen T, Wood D; Third Joint Task Force of European and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Third Joint Task Force of European and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. Uncertainty Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. Third Joint Task Force of European and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. European 2003;24:1601–1610.
- Hecht HS. Practice guidelines for electron beam tomography: a report of the Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging. *Am J Cardiol.* 2000;86: 705–706.
- 128. Mosca L, Appel LJ, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, Chandra-Strobos N, Fabunmi RP, Grady D, Haan CK, Hayes SN, Judelson DR, Keenan NL, McBride P, Oparil S, Ouyang P, Oz MC, Mendelsohn ME, Pasternak RC, Pinn VW, Robertson RM, Schenck-Gustafsson K, Sila CA, Smith SC Jr, Sopko G, Taylor A, Walsh BW, Wenger NK, Williams CL; American Heart Association. Evidence-based guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention in women. *Circulation*. 2004;109:672–693.
- 129. Taylor AJ, Bairey-Merz CN, Udelson JE. 34th Bethesda Conference: executive summary–can atherosclerosis imaging techniques improve the detection of patients at risk for ischemic heart disease? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41:1860–1862.
- 130. Arad Y, Spadaro LA, Roth M, Newstein D, Guerci AD. Treatment of asymptomatic adults with elevated coronary calcium scores with atorvastatin, vitamin C, and vitamin E: the St. Francis Heart Study randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2005;46:166–172.

- Wong ND, Budoff MJ, Pio J, Detrano RC. Coronary calcium and cardiovascular event risk: evaluation by age- and sex-specific quartiles. *Am Heart J.* 2002;143:456–459.
- 132. Sever PS, Dahlof B, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers G, Caulfield M, Collins R, Kjeldsen SE, Kristinsson A, McInnes GT, Mehlsen J, Nieminen M, O'Brien E, Ostergren J; ASCOT investigators. Prevention of coronary and stroke events with atorvastatin in hypertensive patients who have average or lower-than-average cholesterol concentrations, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial–Lipid Lowering Arm (ASCOT-LLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2003; 361:1149–1158.
- 133. Clouse ME. How useful is computed tomography for screening for coronary artery disease? Noninvasive screening for coronary artery disease with computed tomography is useful. *Circulation*. 2006;113: 125–146.
- 134. Pearson TA, Blair SN, Daniels SR, Eckel RH, Fair JM, Fortmann SP, Franklin BA, Goldstein LB, Greenland P, Grundy SM, Hong Y, Miller NH, Lauer RM, Ockene IS, Sacco RL, Sallis JF Jr, Smith SC Jr, Stone NJ, Taubert KA. AHA guidelines for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and stroke: 2002 update: Consensus Panel guide to comprehensive risk reduction for adult patients without coronary or other atherosclerotic vascular diseases. American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee. *Circulation*. 2002;106: 388–391.
- 135. Eagle KA, Guyton RA, Davidoff R, Ewy GA, Fonger J, Gardner TJ, Gott JP, Herrmann HC, Marlow RA, Nugent W, O'Connor GT, Orszulak TA, Rieselbach RE, Winters WL, Yusuf S, Gibbons RJ, Alpert JS, Garson A Jr, Gregoratos G, Russell RO, Ryan TJ, Smith SC Jr. ACC/AHA guidelines for coronary artery bypass graft surgery: executive summary and recommendations: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Revise the 1991 Guidelines for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery). *Circulation*. 1999;100: 1464–1480.
- 136. Gibbons RJ, Balady GJ, Bricker JT, Chaitman BR, Fletcher GF, Froelicher VF, Mark DB, McCallister BD, Mooss AN, O'Reilly MG, Winters WL Jr, Gibbons RJ, Antman EM, Alpert JS, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gregoratos G, Hiratzka LF, Jacobs AK, Russell RO, Smith SC Jr; American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1997 Exercise Testing Guidelines). ACC/AHA 2002 guideline update for exercise testing: summary article: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1997 Exercise Testing Guidelines). *Circulation*. 2002;106:1883–1892.
- 137. Sevrukov AB, Bland JM, Kondos GT. Serial electron beam CT measurements of coronary artery calcium: has your patient's calcium score actually changed? *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2005;185:1546–1553.
- Callister TQ, Raggi P, Cooil B, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ. Effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors on coronary artery disease as assessed by electron beam computed tomography. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339: 1972–1978.
- Budoff MJ, Lane KL, Bakhsheshi H, Mao S, Grassmann BO, Friedman BC, Brundage BH. Rates of progression of coronary calcium by electron beam tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2000;86:8–11.
- 140. Achenbach S, Ropers D, Pohle K, Leber A, Thilo C, Knez A, Menendez T, Maeffert R, Kusus M, Regenfus M, Bickel A, Haberl R, Steinbeck G, Moshage W, Daniel WG. Influence of lipid-lowering therapy on the progression of coronary artery calcification: a prospective evaluation. *Circulation*. 2002;106:1077–1082.
- 141. Shavelle DM, Takasu J, Budoff MJ, Mao SS, Zhao QX, O'Brien KD. HMG CoA reductase inhibitor (statin) and aortic valve calcium. *Lancet*. 2002;359:1125–1126.
- 142. Cowell SJ, Newby DE, Prescott RJ, Bloomfield P, Reid J, Northridge DB, Boon NA; Scottish Aortic Stenosis and Lipid Lowering Trial, Impact on Regression (SALTIRE) Investigators. A randomized trial of intensive lipid-lowering therapy in calcific aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:2389–2397.
- 143. Taylor A, Shaw LJ, Fayad Z, O'Leary D, Nissen S, Rader D, Raggi P. Tracking atherosclerosis regression: a clinical tool in preventive cardiology. *Atherosclerosis*. 2005;180:1–10.
- 144. Budoff MJ, Takasu J, Flores FR, Niihara Y, Lu B, Lau BH, Rosen RT, Amagase H. Inhibiting progression of coronary calcification using aged garlic extract in patients receiving statin therapy: a preliminary study. *Prev Med.* 2004;39:985–991.

- 145. Raggi P, Davidson M, Callister TQ, Welty FK, Bachmann GA, Hecht H, Rumberger JA. Aggressive versus moderate lipid-lowering therapy in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women: Beyond Endorsed Lipid Lowering with EBT Scanning (BELLES). *Circulation*. 2005;112: 563–571.
- 146. Raggi P, Cooil B, Shaw L, Aboulhson J, Takasu J, Budoff M, Callister TQ. Progression of coronary calcification on serial electron beam tomography scanning is greater in patients with future myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol.* 2003;92:827–829.
- 147. Raggi P, Callister TQ, Shaw LJ. Progression of coronary artery calcium and risk of first myocardial infarction in patients receiving cholesterollowering therapy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:1272–1277.
- 148. Thompson RC, McGhie AI, Moser KW, O'Keefe JH Jr, Stevens TL, House J, Fritsch N, Bateman TM. Clinical utility of coronary calcium scoring after nonischemic myocardial perfusion imaging. J Nucl Cardiol. 2005;12:392–400.
- 149. Moshage W, Achenbach S, Seese B, Bachmann K, Kirchgeorg M. Coronary artery stenoses: three-dimensional imaging with electrocardiographically triggered, contrast agent-enhanced, electron beam CT. *Radiology*. 1995;196:707–714.
- Nakanishi T, Ito K, Imazu M, Yamakido M. Evaluation of coronary artery stenoses using electron-beam CT and multiplanar reformation. *J Comp Assist Tomogr.* 1997;21:121–127.
- 151. Schmermund A, Rensing BJ, Sheedy PF, Bell MR, Rumberger JA. Intravenous electron-beam computed tomographic coronary angiography for segmental analysis of coronary artery stenoses. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;31:1547–1554.
- Reddy GP, Chernoff DM, Adams JR, Higgins CB. Coronary artery stenoses: assessment with contrast-enhanced electron-beam CT and axial reconstructions. *Radiology*. 1998;208:167–172.
- 153. Rensing BJ, Bongaerts A, van Geuns RJ, van Ooijen P, Oudkerk M, de Feyter PJ. Intravenous coronary angiography by electron beam computed tomography: a clinical evaluation. *Circulation*. 1998;98: 2509–2512.
- 154. Achenbach S, Moshage W, Ropers D, Nossen J, Daniel WG. Value of electron-beam computed tomography for the detection of high-grade coronary artery stenoses and occlusions. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339: 1964–1971.
- 155. Budoff MJ, Oudiz RJ, Zalace CP, Baksheshi H, Goldberg SL, French WJ, Rami TG, Brundage BH. Intravenous three-dimensional coronary angiography using contrast-enhanced electron beam computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 1999;83:840–845.
- 156. Achenbach S, Ropers D, Regenfus M, Muschiol G, Daniel WG, Moshage W. Contrast-enhanced electron beam computed tomography to analyze the coronary arteries in patients after acute myocardial infarction. *Heart.* 2000;84:489–493.
- 157. Leber AW, Knez A, Mukherjee R, White C, Huber A, Becker A, Becker CR, Reiser M, Haberl R, Steinbeck G. Usefulness of calcium scoring using electron beam computed tomography and noninvasive coronary angiography in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;88:219–223.
- 158. Ropers D, Regenfus M, Stilianakis N, Birke S, Kessler W, Moshage W, Laub G, Daniel WG, Achenbach S. A direct comparison of noninvasive coronary angiography by electron beam tomography and navigatorecho-based magnetic resonance imaging for the detection of restenosis following coronary angioplasty. *Invest Radiol.* 2002;37:386–392.
- 159. Nikolaou K, Huber A, Knez A, Becker C, Bruening R, Reiser M. Intraindividual comparison of contrast-enhanced electron-beam computed tomography and navigator-echo-based magnetic resonance imaging for noninvasive coronary artery angiography. *Eur Radiol.* 2002; 12:1663–1671.
- Lu B, Shavelle DM, Mao S, Chen L, Child J, Carson S, Budoff MJ. Improved accuracy of noninvasive electron beam coronary angiography. *Invest Radiol.* 2004;39:73–79.
- 161. Budoff MJ, Lu B, Shinbane JS, Chen L, Child J, Carson S, Mao S. Methodology for improved detection of coronary stenoses with computed tomographic angiography. *Am Heart J*. 2004;148:1085–1090.
- 162. Becker CR, Knez A, Leber A, Hong C, Treede H, Wildhirt S, Ohnesorge B, Flohr T, Schoepf UJ, Reiser MF. Initial experiences with multi-slice detector spiral CT in diagnosis of arteriosclerosis of coronary vessels [in German]. *Radiologe*. 2000;40:118–122.
- 163. Ohnesorge B, Flohr T, Becker C, Kopp AF, Schoepf UJ, Baum U, Knez A, Klingenbeck-Regn K, Reiser MF. Cardiac imaging by means of electrocardiographically gated multisection spiral CT: initial experience. *Radiology*. 2000;217:564–571.

- 164. Achenbach S, Ulzheimer S, Baum U, Kachelriess M, Ropers D, Giesler T, Bautz W, Daniel WG, Kalender WA, Moshage W. Noninvasive coronary angiography by retrospectively ECG-gated multislice spiral CT. *Circulation*. 2000;102:2823–2828.
- Nieman K, Oudkerk M, Rensing BJ, van Ooijen P, Munne A, van Geuns RJ, de Feyter PJ. Coronary angiography with multi-slice computed tomography. *Lancet.* 2001;357:599–603.
- 166. Achenbach S, Giesler T, Ropers D, Ulzheimer S, Derlien H, Schulte C, Wenkel E, Moshage W, Bautz W, Daniel WG, Kalender WA, Baum U. Detection of coronary artery stenoses by contrast-enhanced, retrospectively electrocardiographically-gated, multi-slice spiral computed tomography. *Circulation*. 2001;103:2535–2538.
- 167. Knez A, Becker CR, Leber A, Ohnesorge B, Becker A, White C, Haberl R, Reiser MF, Steinbeck G. Usefulness of multislice spiral computed tomography angiography for determination of coronary artery stenoses. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;88:1191–1194.
- 168. Vogl TJ, Abolmaali ND, Diebold T, Engelmann, Ay M, Dogan S, Wimmer-Greinecker G, Moritz A, Herzog C. Techniques for the detection of coronary atherosclerosis: multi-detector row CT coronary angiography. *Radiology*. 2002;223:212–220.
- 169. Kopp AF, Schroeder S, Kuettner A, Baumbach A, Georg C, Kuzo R, Heuschmid M, Ohnesorge B, Karsch KR, Claussen CD. Non-invasive coronary angiography with high resolution multidetector-row computed tomography: results in 102 patients. *Eur Heart J*. 2002;23:1714–1725.
- 170. Nieman K, Rensing BJ, van Geuns RJ, Munne A, Ligthart JM, Pattynama PM, Krestin GP, Serruys PW, de Feyter PJ. Usefulness of multislice computed tomography for detecting obstructive coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2002;89:913–918.
- 171. Becker CR, Knez A, Leber A, et al. Detection of coronary artery stenoses with multislice helical CT angiography. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2002;26:750–755.
- Morgan-Hughes GJ, Marshall AJ, Roobottom CA. Multislice computed tomographic coronary angiography: experience in a UK centre. *Clin Radiol.* 2003;58:378–383.
- 173. Sato Y, Matsumoto N, Kato M, Inoue F, Horie T, Kusama J, Yoshimura A, Imazeki T, Fukui T, Furuhashi S, Takahashi M, Kanmatsuse K. Noninvasive assessment of coronary artery disease by multislice spiral computed tomography using a new retrospectively ECG-gated image reconstruction technique. *Circ J.* 2003;67:401–405.
- 174. Maruyama T, Yoshizumi T, Tamura R, Takashima S, Toyoshima H, Konishi I, Yamashita S, Yamasaki K. Comparison of visibility and diagnostic capability of noninvasive coronary angiography by eight-slice multidetector-row computed tomography versus conventional coronary angiography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;93:537–542.
- 175. Nieman K, Cademartiri F, Lemos PA, Raaijmakers R, Pattynama PM, de Feyter PJ. Reliable noninvasive coronary angiography with fast submillimeter multislice spiral computed tomography. *Circulation*. 2002;106: 2051–2054.
- 176. Ropers D, Baum U, Pohle K, Anders K, Ulzheimer S, Ohnesorge B, Schlundt C, Bautz W, Daniel WG, Achenbach S. Detection of coronary artery stenoses with thin-slice multi-detector row spiral computed tomography and multiplanar reconstruction. *Circulation*. 2003;107: 664–666.
- 177. Kuettner A, Trabold T, Schroeder S, Feyer A, Beck T, Brueckner A, Heuschmid M, Burgstahler C, Kopp AF, Claussen CD. Noninvasive detection of coronary lesions using 16-detector multislice spiral computed tomography technology: initial clinical results. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44:1230–1237.
- 178. Mollet NR, Cademartiri F, Nieman K, Saia F, Lemos PA, McFadden EP, Pattynama PM, Serruys PW, Krestin GP, de Feyter PJ. Multislice spiral computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with stable angina pectoris. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43:2265–2270.
- 179. Martuscelli E, Romagnoli A, D'Eliseo A, Razzini C, Tomassini M, Sperandio M, Simonetti G, Romeo F. Accuracy of thin-slice computed tomography in the detection of coronary stenoses. *Eur Heart J.* 2004; 25:1043–1048.
- 180. Hoffmann U, Moselewski F, Cury RC, Ferencik M, Jank IK, Diaz LJ, Abbara S, Brady TJ, Achenbach S. Predictive value of 16-slice multidetector spiral computed tomography to detect significant obstructive coronary artery disease in patients at high risk for coronary disease: patient versus segment-based analysis. *Circulation*. 2004;110: 2638–2643.
- 181. Kuettner A, Beck T, Drosch T, Kettering K, Heuschmid M, Burgstahler C, Claussen CD, Kopp AF, Schroeder S. Diagnostic accuracy of noninvasive coronary imaging using 16-detector slice spiral computed

tomography with 188 ms temporal resolution. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005; 45:123–127.

- 182. Mollet NR, Cademartiri F, Krestin GP, McFadden EP, Arampatzis CA, Serruys PW, de Feyter PJ. Improved diagnostic accuracy with 16-row multi-slice computed tomography coronary angiography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;45:128–132.
- 183. Schuijf JD, Bax JJ, Salm LP, Jukema JW, Lamb HJ, van der Wall EE, de Roos A, Noninvasive coronary imaging and assessment of left ventricular function using 16-slice computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;95:571–574.
- Morgan-Hughes GJ, Roobottom CA, Owens PE, Marshall AJ. Highly accurate coronary angiography with submillimetre, 16 slice computed tomography. *Heart.* 2005;91:308–313.
- 185. Hoffmann MH, Shi H, Schmitz BL, Schmid FT, Lieberknecht M, Schulze R, Ludwig B, Kroschel U, Jahnke N, Haerer W, Brambs HJ, Aschoff AJ. Noninvasive coronary angiography with multislice computed tomography [published correction in JAMA. 2005;293: 2531–2533]. JAMA. 2005;293:2471–2478.
- 186. Fine JJ, Hopkins CB, Hall PA, Delphia RE, Attebery TW, Newton FC. Noninvasive coronary angiography: agreement of multi-slice spiral computed tomography and selective catheter angiography. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2004;20:549–552.
- 187. Kaiser C, Bremerich J, Haller S, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Bongartz G, Pfisterer M, Buser P. Limited diagnostic yield of non-invasive coronary angiography by 16-slice multidetector spiral computed tomography in routine patients referred for evaluation of coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26:1987–1992.
- Aviram G, Finkelstein A, Herz I, Lessick J, Miller H, Graif M, Keren G. Clinical value of 16-slice multi-detector CT compared to invasive coronary angiography. *Int J Cardiovasc Intervent*. 2005;7:21–28.
- 189. Achenbach S, Ropers D, Pohle FK, Raaz D, von Erffa J, Yilmaz A, Muschiol G, Daniel WG. Detection of coronary artery stenoses using multi-detector CT with 16 x 0.75 collimation and 375 ms rotation. *Eur Heart J*. 2005;26:1978–1986.
- 190. Leber AW, Knez A, von Ziegler F, Becker A, Nikolaou K, Paul S, Wintersperger B, Reiser M, Becker CR, Steinbeck G, Boekstegers P. Quantification of obstructive and nonobstructive coronary lesions by 64-slice computed tomography: a comparative study with quantitative coronary angiography and intravascular ultrasound. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2005;46:147–154.
- 191. Mollet NR, Cademartiri F, van Mieghem CA, Runza G, McFadden EP, Baks T, Serruys PW, Krestin GP, de Feyter PJ. High-resolution spiral computed tomography coronary angiography in patients referred for diagnostic conventional coronary angiography. *Circulation*. 2005;112: 2318–2323.
- 192. Ropers D, Rixe J, Anders K, Küttner A, Baum U, Bautz W, Daniel WG, Achenbach S. Usefulness of multidetector row computed tomography with 64- x 0.6-mm collimation and 330-ms rotation for the noninvasive detection of significant coronary artery stenoses. *Am J Cardiol.* 2006; 97:343–348.
- 193. Fine JJ, Hopkins CB, Ruff N, Newton FC. Comparison of accuracy of 64-slice cardiovascular computed tomography with coronary angiography in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2006;97:173–174.
- 194. Giesler T, Baum U, Ropers D, Ulzheimer S, Wenkel E, Mennicke M, Bautz W, Kalender WA, Daniel WG, Achenbach S. Noninvasive visualization of coronary arteries using contrast-enhanced multidetector CT: influence of heart rate on image quality and stenosis detection. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. 2002;179:911–916.
- 195. Schroeder S, Kopp AF, Kuettner A, Burgstahler C, Herdeg C, Heuschmid M, Baumbach A, Claussen CD, Karsch KR, Seipel L. Influence of heart rate on vessel visibility in noninvasive coronary angiography using new multislice computed tomography: experience in 94 patients. *Clin Imaging*, 2002;26:106–111.
- 196. Hoffmann MH, Shi H, Manzke R, Schmid FT, De Vries L, Grass M, Brambs HJ, Aschoff AJ. Noninvasive coronary angiography with 16-detector row CT: effect of heart rate. *Radiology*. 2005;234:86–97.
- 197. Herzog C, Abolmaali N, Balzer JO, Baunach S, Ackermann H, Dogan S, Britten MB, Vogl TJ. Heart-rate-adapted image reconstruction in multidetector-row cardiac CT: influence of physiological and technical prerequisite on image quality. *Eur Radiol.* 2002;12:2670–2678.
- 198. Schuijf JD, Bax JJ, Shaw LJ, de Roos A, Lamb HJ, van der Wall EE, Wijns W. Meta-analysis of comparative diagnostic performance of magnetic resonance imaging and multislice computed tomography for noninvasive coronary angiography. *Am Heart J.* 2006;151:404–411.

- 199. Stein PD, Beemath A, Kayali F, Skaf E, Sanchez J, Olson RE. Multidetector computed tomography for the diagnosis of coronary artery disease: a systematic review. *Am J Med.* 2006;119:203–216.
- 200. Gibbons RJ, Chatterjee K, Daley J, Douglas JS, Fihn SD, Gardin JM, Grunwald MA, Levy D, Lytle BW, O'Rourke RA, Schafer WP, Williams SV. ACC/AHA/ACP-ASIM guidelines for the management of patients with chronic stable angina: executive summary and recommendations: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on Management of Patients with Chronic Stable Angina). *Circulation*. 1999;99: 2829–2848.
- Pump H, Mohlenkamp S, Sehnert CA, Schimpf SS, Schmidt A, Erbel R, Gronemeyer DH, Seibel RM. Coronary arterial stent patency: assessment with electron-beam CT. *Radiology*. 2000;214:447–452.
- Gilard M, Cornily JC, Rioufol G, Finet G, Pennec PY, Mansourati J, Blanc JJ, Boschat J. Noninvasive assessment of left main coronary stent patency with 16-slice computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;95: 110–112.
- Hong C, Chrysant GS, Woodard PK, Bae KT. Coronary artery stent patency assessed with in-stent contrast enhancement measured at multidetector row CT angiography: initial experience. *Radiology*. 2004;233: 286–291.
- Knollmann FD, Moller J, Gebert A, Bethge C, Felix R. Assessment of coronary artery stent patency by electron-beam CT. *Eur Radiol.* 2004; 14:1341–1347.
- Schuijf JD, Bax JJ, Jukema JW, Lamb HJ, Warda HM, Vliegen HW, de Roos A, van der Wall EE. Feasibility of assessment of coronary stent patency using 16-slice computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol*. 2004;94: 427–430.
- 206. Kruger S, Mahnken AH, Sinha AM, Borghans A, Dedden K, Hoffmann R, Hanrath P. Multislice spiral computed tomography for the detection of coronary stent restenosis and patency. *Int J Cardiol.* 89:167–172.
- 207. Mahnken AH, Buecker A, Wildberger JE, Ruebben A, Stanzel S, Vogt F, Gunther RW, Blindt R. Coronary artery stents in multislice computed tomography: in vitro artifact evaluation. *Invest Radiol.* 2004;39:27–33.
- Maintz D, Seifarth H, Flohr T, Kramer S, Wichter T, Heindel W, Fischbach R. Improved coronary artery stent visualization and in-stent stenosis detection using 16-slice computed-tomography and dedicated image reconstruction technique. *Invest Radiol.* 2003;38:790–795.
- Mahnken AH, Seyfarth T, Flohr T, Herzog C, Stahl J, Stanzel S, Kuettner A, Wildberger JE, Gunther RW. Flat-panel detector computed tomography for the assessment of coronary artery stents: phantom study in comparison with 16-slice spiral computed tomography. *Invest Radiol.* 2005;40:8–13.
- Cademartiri F, Mollet N, Lemos PA, Pugliese F, Baks T, McFadden EP, Krestin GP, de Feyter PJ. Usefulness of multislice computed tomographic coronary angiography to assess in-stent restenosis. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;96:799-802.
- 211. Stanford W, Brundage BH, MacMillan R, Bateman TM, Eldredge WJ, Chomka EV, Lipton MJ, White CF, Wilson RF, Johnson MR, Marcus ML. Sensitivity and specificity of assessing coronary bypass graft patency with ultrafast computed tomography: results of a multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1988;12:1–7.
- 212. Knez A, von Smekal A, Haberl R, Spiegl F, Reichart B, Reiser M, Steinbeck G. The value of ultrafast computerized tomography in detection of the patency of coronary bypasses [in German]. Z Kardiol. 1996;85:629–634.
- 213. Achenbach S, Moshage W, Ropers D, Nossen J, Bachmann K. Noninvasive, three-dimensional visualization of coronary artery bypass grafts by electron beam tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 1997;79:856–861.
- 214. Ha JW, Cho SY, Shim WH, Chung N, Jang Y, Lee HM, Choe KO, Chung WJ, Choi SH, Yoo KJ, Kang MS. Noninvasive evaluation of coronary artery bypass graft patency using three-dimensional angiography obtained with contrast-enhanced electron beam CT. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 1999;172:1055–1059.
- 215. Marano R, Storto ML, Maddestra N, Bonomo L. Non-invasive assessment of coronary artery bypass graft with retrospectively ECG-gated four-row multi-detector spiral computed tomography. *Eur Radiol.* 2004;14:1353–1362.
- 216. Lu B, Dai RP, Zhuang N, Budoff MJ. Noninvasive assessment of coronary artery bypass graft patency and flow characteristics by electron-beam tomography. *J Invasive Cardiol*. 2002;14:19–24.
- 217. Hoshi T, Yamauchi T, Kanauchi T, Konno M, Imai K, Suwa J, Onoguchi K, Hashimoto K, Horie T. Three-dimensional computed

tomography angiography of coronary artery bypass graft with electron beam tomography [in Japanese]. *J Cardiol*. 2001;38:197–202.

- Engelmann MG. von Smekal A, Knez A, Kurzinger E, Huehns TY, Hofling B, Reiser M. Accuracy of spiral computed tomography for identifying arterial and venous coronary graft patency. *Am J Cardiol.* 1997;80:569–574.
- Burgstahler C, Kuettner A, Kopp AF, Herdeg C, Martensen J, Claussen CD, Schroeder S. Non-invasive evaluation of coronary artery bypass grafts using multi-slice computed tomography: initial clinical experience. *Int J Cardiol.* 2003;90:275–280.
- Rossi R, Chiurlia E, Ratti C, Ligabue G, Romagnoli R, Modena MG. Noninvasive assessment of coronary artery bypass graft patency by multislice computed tomography. *Ital Heart J.* 2004;5:36–41.
- 221. Gurevitch J, Gaspar T, Orlov B, Amar R, Dvir D, Peled N, Aravot DJ. Noninvasive evaluation of arterial grafts with newly released multidetector computed tomography. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2003;76:1523–1527.
- 222. Ropers D, Ulzheimer S, Wenkel E, Baum U, Giesler T, Derlien H, Moshage W, Bautz WA, Daniel WG, Kalender WA, Achenbach S. Investigation of aortocoronary bypass grafts by multislice spiral computed tomography with electrocardiographic-gated image reconstruction. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;88:792–795.
- 223. Nieman K, Pattynama PM, Rensing BJ, Van Geuns RJ, De Feyter PJ. Evaluation of patients after coronary artery bypass surgery: CT angiographic assessment of grafts and coronary arteries. *Radiology*. 2003;229: 749–756.
- Martuscelli E, Romagnoli A, D'Eliseo A, Tomassini M, Razzini C, Sperandio M, Simonetti G, Romeo F, Mehta J. Evaluation of venous and arterial conduit patency by 16-slice spiral computed tomography. *Circulation*. 2004;110:3234–3238.
- 225. Schlosser T, Konorza T, Hunold P, Kuhl H, Schmermund A, Barkhausen J. Noninvasive visualization of coronary artery bypass grafts using 16-detector row computed tomography. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;44:1224–1229.
- 226. Anders K, Baum U, Schmid M, Ropers D, Schmid A, Pohle K, Daniel WG, Bautz W, Achenbach S. Coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) patency: assessment with high-resolution submillimeter 16-slice multidetector-row computed tomography (MDCT) versus coronary angiography. *Eur J Radiol.* 2006;57:336–344.
- Chiurlia E, Menozzi M, Ratti C, Romagnoli R, Modena MG. Follow-up of coronary artery bypass graft patency by multislice computed tomography. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;95:1094–1097.
- 228. Ropers D, Moshage W, Daniel WG, Jessl J, Gottwik M, Achenbach S. Visualization of coronary artery anomalies and their course by contrastenhanced electron beam tomography and three-dimensional reconstruction. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;87:193–197.
- 229. Yoshimura N, Hamada S, Takamiya M, Kuribayashi S, Kimura K. Coronary artery anomalies with a shunt: evaluation with electron-beam CT. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1998;22:682–686.
- Deibler AR, Kuzo RS, Vohringer M, Page EE, Safford RE, Patron JN, Lane GE, Morin RL, Gerber TC. Imaging of congenital coronary anomalies with multislice computed tomography. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2004;79:1017–1023.
- 231. Lessick J, Kumar G, Beyar R, Lorber A, Engel A. Anomalous origin of a posterior descending artery from the right pulmonary artery: report of a rare case diagnosed by multidetector computed tomography angiography. *J Comput Assist Tomogr.* 2004;28:857–859.
- 232. Sato Y, Inoue F, Matsumoto N, Tani S, Takayama T, Yoda S, Kunimasa T, Ishii N, Uchiyama T, Saito S, Tanaka H, Furuhashi S, Takahashi M, Koyama Y. Detection of anomalous origins of the coronary artery by means of multislice computed tomography. *Circ J.* 2005;69:320–324.

- 233. Schmid M, Achenbach S, Ludwig J, Baum U, Anders K, Pohle K, Daniel WG, Ropers D. Visualization of coronary artery anomalies by contrast-enhanced multi-detector row spiral computed tomography. *Int J Cardiol.* 2006;111:430–435.
- 234. Roberts W, Jones AA, Nissen SE. Coronary intravascular ultrasound: implications for A. Quantitation of coronary arterial narrowing at necropsy in sudden coronary death. Am J Cardiol. 1979;44:39–44.
- 235. Mintz GS, Painter JA, Pichard AD, Kent KM, Satler LF, Popma JJ. Chuang UC, Bucher TA, Sokolowicz LE, Leon MB. Atherosclerosis in angiographically "normal" coronary artery reference segments: an intravascular ultrasound study with clinical correlations. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1995;25:1479–1485.
- Little WC, Constantinescu M, Applegate RJ, Kutcher MA, Burrows MT, Kahl FR, Santamore WP. Can coronary angiography predict the site of a subsequent myocardial infarction in patients with mild-to-moderate coronary artery disease? *Circulation*. 1988;78:1157–1166.
- Falk E, Shah PK, Fuster V. Coronary plaque disruption. *Circulation*. 1995;92:657–671.
- 238. Leber AW, Knez A, Becker A, von Ziegler F, Nikolaou K, Rist C, Reiser M, White C, Steinbeck G, Boekstegers P. Accuracy of multidetector spiral computed tomography in identifying and differentiating the composition of coronary atherosclerotic plaques: a comparative study with intracoronary ultrasound. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43:1241–1247.
- 239. Achenbach S, Moselewski F, Ropers D, Ferencik M, Hoffmann U, MacNeill B, Pohle K, Baum U, Anders K, Jang IK, Daniel WG, Brady TJ. Detection of calcified and noncalcified coronary atherosclerotic plaque by contrast-enhanced, submillimeter multidetector spiral computed tomography: a segment-based comparison with intravascular ultrasound. *Circulation*. 2004;109:14–17.
- 240. Schoenhagen P, Tuzcu EM, Stillman AE, Moliterno DJ, Halliburton SS, Kuzmiak SA, Kasper JM, Magyar WA, Lieber ML, Nissen SE, White RD. Non-invasive assessment of plaque morphology and remodeling in mildly stenotic coronary segments: comparison of 16-slice computed tomography and intravascular ultrasound. *Coron Artery Dis.* 2003;14: 459–462.
- 241. Schroeder S, Kopp AF, Baumbach A, Meisner C, Kuettner A, Georg C, Ohnesorge B, Herdeg C, Claussen CD, Karsch KR. Noninvasive detection and evaluation of atherosclerotic coronary plaques with multislice computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;37:1430–1435.
- 242. Baumgart D, Schmermund A, Goerge G, Haude M, Ge J, Adamzik M, Sehnert C, Altmaier K, Groenemeyer D, Seibel R, Erbel R. Comparison of electron beam computed tomography with intracoronary ultrasound and coronary angiography for detection of coronary atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1997;30:57–64.
- 243. Rasouli ML, Shavelle DM, French WJ, McKay CR, Budoff MJ. Assessment of coronary plaque morphology by contrast-enhanced computed tomographic angiography: comparison with intravascular ultrasound. *Coron Artery Dis.* 2006;17:359–364.
- 244. Budoff MJ. Prevalence of soft plaque detection with computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48:319–321.
- 245. Moselewski F, Ropers D, Pohle K, Hoffmann U, Ferencik M, Chan RC, Cury RC, Abbara S, Jang IK, Brady TJ, Daniel WG, Achenbach S. Comparison of measurement of cross-sectional coronary atherosclerotic plaque and vessel areas by 16-slice multidetector computed tomography versus intrasvascular ultrasound. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;94:1294–1297.

KEY WORDS: AHA Scientific Statements ■ calcium ■ atherosclerosis ■ coronary disease ■ noninvasive coronary angiography